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The St Andrews Preservation Trust was founded in 1937  
and incorporated in 1938. 

 
Its object is to secure the preservation of the amenities and historic character of              
St Andrews and its neighbourhood. 
 
Membership of the Trust is open on the following terms and conditions: 

Life Membership - A single payment of not less than £180 
Joint Life Membership - For Husband and Wife, a single payment of not less than £240. 
Annual Membership - An annual payment of not less than £25. 
Joint/Family Annual Membership - An annual payment of not less than £40 
Corporate Membership – An annual payment of  £50  or  more. This  class  of          
membership is available to businesses, institutions, and organisations  wishing  to support 
the work of the Trust. 
Student Membership – An annual membership of £5 for students. 
Subscriptions are due with Application and annually on 1st January. 
Liability of members is limited to one Annual Subscription. 

 
Enquiries and Subscriptions should be addressed to The St Andrews Preservation Trust 
Limited, 4 Queen’s Gardens, St Andrews, Fife KY16 9TA  
e-mail: trust@standrewspreservationtrust.org.uk;    Tel.   No.   01334   477152).    
Membership Application and Donation forms, Gift Aid Declaration and  Banker’s Order forms  
are  available on request or on www.standrewspreservationtrust.org.uk. 
 
In addition to renewing their own membership annually, members are asked to consider other 
ways of helping the Trust in its work for St Andrews, in particular, by introducing  new    
members.  This would be most beneficial, not only financially, but by bringing more people 
into closer contact with the  Trust’s  work.  As  an  encouragement to the  younger  generation  
to participate in the Trust’s efforts to maintain the quality of life for their future, membership 
can, for example, be taken out on behalf of children and grandchildren. 
 

PUBLICATIONS 
 

   St Andrews: Preserving the Image                 £6.50 
   Saving St Andrews 1937 – 2003: A Short History of the Trust   £3.00 
   A Handful of Ghosts                         £2.50 
   A Journey Through the Lade Braes                 £1.00 
   St Andrews Shop Fronts 1820 - 1940                £3.00 
   12 North Street                           £4.00 
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THE ST ANDREWS PRESERVATION TRUST LIMITED 
(Limited by Guarantee) 

Trustees’ Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2015 

The trustees are pleased to present their report together with the financial statements of the charity for 
the year ended 31 December 2015. 
 
The financial statements comply with the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005, the 
Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended), the Companies Act 2006, the         
Memorandum and Articles of Association, and Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of 
Recommended Practice (SORP) applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102).  
 
 
Charitable objectives and activities 
The Memorandum of Association gives the charity wide ranging powers to meet its principal object: ‘To 
preserve for the benefit of the public the amenities and historic character of the City and Royal Burgh of 
St Andrews and its neighbourhood’. Such powers include the acquisition, maintenance and restoration of 
buildings and land. 
 
The charity also seeks to advance and promote education by exhibits and activities within the St       
Andrews Preservation Trust Museum. 
 
The charity’s efforts to ‘preserve … the amenities and historic character of … St Andrews and its 
neighbourhood’ are focused through the work of its Planning and Environment Committees. All       
applications for planning permission within the town’s conservation area and many outwith this area are 
scrutinised by the Planning Committee which frequently makes formal submissions to the local        
authority. The Environment Committee, often in association with others seeks to protect the landscape 
setting of the town. It is also involved in the care of the woodland which is owned by the charity.  
 
Through its Museum the charity seeks to inform and educate locals and visitors, young and old, about 
the history and culture of St Andrews through permanent displays and a series of exhibitions during the 
year. 
 
Other activities relate to informing members of the charity of its activities and fund raising.  
 
 
Achievements and performance 
During 2015, the charity continued to pursue its three principal objectives: 

 Planning -  to ensure that any development is in keeping with the character and landscape 
setting of St Andrews and that appropriate planning policies are in place; 

 Museum - to conserve the heritage of St Andrews, especially its social history, and to  
ensure that this is communicated to people of all ages and backgrounds  through the Trust’s 
collection of records and artefacts and through talks and publications; 

 Environment – to enhance the appearance and amenity of St Andrews and its surrounds 
through encouraging improvements to buildings, street furniture, plantings, etc.  

 
Planning activities continued to be overshadowed by the ‘Madras affair’.  A judicial review found in 

favour of Fife Council on 20 March 2015 and STEPAL (St Andrews Environmental Protection        
Association) challenged that decision with an appeal whose decision should be known around the end of 
the first quarter of 2016.  The charity remains resolutely opposed to the Pipeland site and supportive of 
STEPAL’s efforts. 
 
The Planning Committee continues to consider a multitude of applications for planning permission and 
its workload is heavy.   All applications in the conservation area are scrutinised as well as many outside 
that area.  Objections were lodged in respect of two significant projects – the West Sands Visitor Centre 
and an extension to Rusack’s Hotel, both on the grounds that they were out of keeping with their 
surroundings and obtrusive.  Both applications were turned down by the North East Planning Committee 
against Planners’ advice; an appeal in respect of the West Sands project was dismissed whilst an appeal 
regarding Rusack’s Hotel was sustained. 
 
In December, the University announced plans to demolish the Gatty Buildings on the East Sands and 
build a new Ocean Research Institute.  Whilst it is felt that the design of the new building looks exciting 
and might be the start of regeneration of a rather drab part of the Town, there is concern that there is no 
master plan for the East Sands area and inadequate information on the management of pedestrian and 
vehicular traffic. 
 
During the year the Planning Committee benefitted from the expert advice of the Trust’s Honorary 
President, Dr Robert Steedman, for which Trustees are very grateful.  Students of town planning from 
Dundee University continued to participate in Committee meetings to considerable mutual benefit and 
there were two excellent ‘teach-ins’ for Trustees given by Dr Barbara Illsley, recently retired from    
Dundee University.  
 
The Museum continues to thrive thanks to an energetic committee, enthusiastic volunteers and an     
outstanding Curator.  There was an excellent and varied programme of exhibitions and strong visitor 
numbers; the Museum was once again a venue for the increasingly successful STANZA week.  Thanks 
to a most generous benefactor, considerable efforts on fundraising and a most effective Museum      
Development Committee the Museum garden area was transformed by the creation of a Research Room 
and a garden store (The Falconry) which were formally opened in April 2015.   
 
On environmental matters the Trust continues to look after the Boase Wood.  A further two              
commemorative plaques were erected, funded by the Gordon Christie bequest, and the Trust, by         
agreement with the University, submitted the refurbishment of Martyrs’ Kirk for the Scottish Civic 
Trust’s annual award; a commendation was awarded. 
 
A full programme of events took place for both social and fundraising purposes, including the annual 
Hidden Gardens event at the end of June. 
 
All the activities of the Trust demand much time and effort from Trustees, non-Trustee committee  
members and volunteers and their efforts are commended to members whose continuing support is   
immensely valued. 
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Future plans 
The charity continues to seek a solution to the long-standing problem of the neglected garden opposite 1 
Greyfriars Garden. The charity signed an agreement with a most generous benefactor which should  
permit the purchase of the garden by the charity for the benefit of the Town should the current owner be 
persuaded to sell. 
 
Planning for the proposed sensory garden at the Museum was completed and planting is expected in 
Spring 2016.  
 
 
Financial position and review of the year 
There has been an overall increase in the financial position of the charity in 2015 of £59,737 (2014 
increase £28,197). The unrestricted General Fund reflecting ordinary activities showed an increase of 
£92,230 (2014 decrease £11,341). The unrestricted Revaluation Reserve showed a decrease of £46,424 
(2014 increase £9,460). The restricted funds reflect an increase of £13,931 (2014 increase £22,328) and 
the Endowment Fund was unchanged (2014 increase £7,750). The overall result is a net increase in total 
funds of £59,737 (2014 increase £28,197) leaving total funds carried forward of £1,159,069.  

The total dividends and interest received on our investment portfolio is in line with the predictions from 
our investment advisors and this year the trustees agreed that all restricted funds should receive a 
proportionate share of that income.   Income from annual subscriptions, including Gift Aid, is slightly 
down but members taking out life membership shows an increase on 2014. Income from fundraising 
events is in line with last year but sales of trust publications are down and a strong effort will take place 
next year to reverse this shortfall. 

The most significant income this year is from the unrestricted legacies, and this has moved us from an 
operating loss of £9,065 to a net operating surplus of £65,129. In addition sales of investments realised a 
net surplus of £6,223. The unrealised loss on our portfolio is £19,036 but this fall is lower than the fall of 
the all share indexes, which reflects the conservative guidelines of our holdings.  

Work on the new buildings at the museum was been completed and £8,701 of final costs were 
capitalised in 2015. Further maintenance work has been carried out on our properties to keep them in a 
satisfactory condition. Normal operating costs have been kept in line with last year. The planning 
committee has not had to call on outside professional help in the consideration of the many planning 
applications reviewed in the year. 

The trustees recognise the restricted funds presently held and there has been expenditure on almost all of 
the funds. A very generous donation was received to enable work to start in 2015 on an upgrade of the 
kitchen and staff toilet at the museum and this work has been completed in 2016.  
 
 
Reserves policy 
The charity holds reserves in the form of investment property and stock market investments. The income 
from both of these reserves equates to over half of our operating expenditure and is essential to help the 
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charity to properly manage its resources. It is the policy of the charity to hold these reserves so as to 
provide the charity with adequate financial stability and the means for it to meet its charitable objectives 
for the foreseeable future. 
 
Structure, governance and management 
The charity is a company limited by guarantee and has no share capital. The charitable company was 
incorporated on 5 February 1938. The liability of each member in the event of a winding up is limited to 
£1. 
 
Any member of the charity is eligible to become a trustee. Nominations are sought in advance of the 
Annual General Meeting at which elections are held and the results announced. Trustees may also be   
co-opted to fill casual vacancies or to secure needed skills. The term of office is three years, renewable 
once only. Any trustee who completes six years of service may not seek re-election until one year has 
passed. 
 
No external person or body has any right to appoint a trustee. 
 
No trustee receives any kind of remuneration but re-imbursement of reasonable expenses incurred on 
charity business is allowed when previously authorised by the Chairman or a Vice-Chairman and 
supported by receipts. 
 
The trustees are accountable for all aspects of the charity’s activities. The trustees delegate considerable 
authority to a number of committees but retain firm financial control. The charity employs two staff – an 
Office Administrator and a Museum Curator. The Office Administrator has particularly strong links with 
the Chairman as does the Museum Curator with the Convenor of the Museum Committee.  
 
The trustees assess the various risks associated with their finances and all other aspects of their activities 
both at trustee and committee levels and regularly review the controls and procedures they have in place 
to meet the identified risks at least annually. 
 
This work has identified financial sustainability as the major financial risk of the charity. Financial risk 
is managed by regular reviews of available liquid funds to settle liabilities as they fall due, active 
management of debtors and creditors and regular liaison with the charity stockbrokers.  
 
Attention has also focussed on non-financial risks arising from fire and health and safety of staff and 
visitors to the charity offices and museum. These risks are addressed by having robust policies and 
procedures in place and regular training of staff and volunteers. 
 
Reference and administrative details 
Charity registration number:       SC011782 
Company registration number:      SC020194 
Registered office:             4 Queen’s Gardens, St. Andrews, KY16 9TA 
Museum:                 12 North Street, St Andrews, KY16 9PW 
Secretary & Legal Advisor:        Mr D N Kinnear LLB NP, Thorntons Law LLP,  
                     Kinburn Castle, St Andrews, KY16 9DR 
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Honorary Treasurer:           Mr I S Lumsdaine 
Stockbrokers:               Speirs & Jeffrey Limited, George House, 50 George Square, 
                     Glasgow, G2 1EH 
Independent Examiner:          Mrs J Paul BA CA CTA, Chestney House, 149 Market Street, 
                     St Andrews, KY16 9PF 
Directors and Trustees 
The directors of the charitable company (the charity) are its trustees for the purpose of charity law. The 
trustees and officers serving during the year and since the year end were as follows:  
 
Chairman:                Mr J F Matthews (elected trustee) (from May 2015) 
 
Vice-Chairmen:             Dr W K D Borthwick (elected trustee) 
                     Mr A W Johnson (elected trustee) 
                     Dr P J Murray (elected trustee) 
 
 
Elected Trustees:   Dr D A Barrie             Dr I M Matthews (to May 2015) 
           Mr J D Beaton (to May 2015)      Miss A J M Morris 
           Miss I R T Bennett (from May 2015)  Mr J Peacock (to May 2015) 
           Mr R de C Chapman          Mr W Sangster 
           Mrs M E Denyer            Mr D K Seeley 
           Mr S A Kidd (to May 2015)      Mr D H Telfer (from May 2015) 
           Mrs A Long (from May 2015)     Mr D G Wynd (to May 2015) 
 
The following office holders are not regarded as trustees in terms of charity law:  
 
Honorary President:           Dr R R Steedman   
Honorary Vice-Presidents:        Mrs E J Baxter      
                     Miss G L C Falconer  
                     Dr J M Frew  
                     Mr R S Murray  
                 
Investment powers and policy  
The Memorandum of Association provides the trustees with power to invest moneys, not immediately 
required in securities or otherwise, in such manner as may from time to time be determined.  
 
Income from the charity’s investments is vital to its financial well-being. Investment policy is            
conservative, seeking the maximum total return consistent with rather low-risk exposure. Within this 
broad policy, the charity’s stockbrokers are asked to provide the highest income possible whilst        
preserving the value of the capital in real terms. 
 
Trustees’ responsibilities in relation to the financial statements 
The trustees (who are the directors of the company for the purposes of company law) are responsible for 
preparing the Trustees’ Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law 
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and United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting           
Standards). 
 
Company law requires the trustees to prepare financial statements for each financial year which give a 
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the charitable company and of its incoming resources and 
application of resources, including the income and expenditure of the charitable company for that     
period.  
 
In preparing those financial statements the trustees are required to: 
 
 select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 
 observe the methods and principles in the Charities SORP; 
 make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
 state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material    

departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and 
 prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume 

that the charitable company will continue in operation. 
 
The trustees are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable   
accuracy at any time the financial position of the charitable company and enable them to ensure that the 
financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006, the Charities and Trustee Investment 
(Scotland) Act 2005 and the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended).  The 
trustees are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the charitable company and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.  
 
Small company exemptions 
The trustees have prepared this report in accordance with the special provisions relating to small 
companies within Part 15 of the Companies Act 2006. 
 
Approved by the trustees on 29 March 2016 and signed on their behalf by: 
 
 
 
 
 
Mr J F Matthews 
Chairman 
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I report on the accounts of the charity for the year ended 31 December 2015 which are set out on 
pages 11 to 19. 
 
Respective Responsibilities of Trustees and Examiner 
The charity’s trustees are responsible for the preparation of the accounts in accordance with the 
terms of the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and the Charities Accounts 
(Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended).  The charity trustees consider that the audit             
requirement of Regulation 10(1) (a) to (c) of the Accounts Regulations does not apply.  It is my 
responsibility to examine the accounts as required under section 44(1) (c) of the Act and to state 
whether particular matters have come to my attention. 
 
This report is made to the trustees, as a body, in accordance with the terms of my engagement.  My 
work has been undertaken so that I might state to the trustees those matters I am required to state to 
them in an independent examiner’s report and for no other purpose.  To the fullest extent permitted 
by law, I do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the charity and the trustees 
for my work or for this report. 
 
Basis of Independent Examiner’s Statement 
My examination is carried out in accordance with Regulation 11 of the Charities Accounts 
(Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended).  An examination includes a review of the accounting 
records kept by the charity and a comparison of the accounts presented with those records.  It also 
includes consideration of any unusual items or disclosures in the accounts, and seeks      
explanations from the trustees concerning any such matters.  The procedures undertaken do not 
provide all the evidence that would be required in an audit, and consequently I do not express an 
audit opinion on the view given by the accounts. 
 
Independent Examiner’s Statement 
In the course of my examination no matter has come to my attention:- 
 

1. which gives me reasonable cause to believe that in any material respect the requirements: 
 to keep accounting records in accordance with Section 44(1) (a) of the 2005 

Act and Regulation 4 of the 2006 Accounts Regulations, and  
 to prepare accounts which accord with the accounting records and comply with 

Regulation 8 of the 2006 Accounts Regulations have not been met, or  
 

2.       to which, in my opinion, attention should be drawn in order to enable a proper            
understanding of the accounts to be reached. 

             

THE ST ANDREWS PRESERVATION TRUST LIMITED 
 

Report to the Trustees for the year ended 31 December 2015 
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Total Total
General Revaluation Restricted Endowment Funds Funds

Notes Fund Reserve Funds Fund 2015 2014
£ £ £ £ £ £

Income and endowments from:
   Grants, donations and legacies 4 78,050     -          15,867     -          93,917            42,622       
Charitable activities:
   Ordinary Members' Subscriptions 6,660       -          -          -          6,660              6,756         
   Life Members' Subscriptions 930         -          -          -          930                 240            
Other trading activities 5 18,091     -          -          -          18,091            20,602       
Investment Income:
   Dividends and Interest 30,041     -          2,480       -          32,521            33,079       
   Property Rents 6,180       -          -          -          6,180              6,048         
Total Income 139,952   -          18,347     -          158,299          109,347     

Expenditure on:
Raising funds 6 6,871       -          -          -          6,871              5,871         
Charitable Activities 7 67,952     -          10,926     -          78,878            79,236       
Total Expenditure 74,823     -          10,926     -          85,749            85,107       

Net gains/(losses) on investments 10 6,223       (25,546) 6,510       -          (12,813) 3,957         

Net income/(expenditure) 71,352     (25,546) 13,931     -          59,737            28,197       

Transfers between funds 20,878     (20,878) -          -          -                 -             

Net movement in funds 92,230     (46,424) 13,931     -          59,737            28,197       

Reconciliation of funds:
Total funds brought forward 700,631   323,510   65,191     10,000     1,099,332       1,071,135  

Total funds carried forward 792,861   277,086   79,122     10,000     1,159,069       1,099,332  

Represented by: General Revaluation Restricted Endowment Total Total
Analysis of charitable funds Fund Reserve Funds Fund 2015 2014

£ £ £ £ £ £
Fixed assets 699,711   277,086   71,837     10,000     1,058,634       1,085,912  
Current assets 103,375   -          7,285       -          110,660          22,963       
Current liabilities (10,225) -          -          -          (10,225) (9,543)

792,861   277,086   79,122     10,000     1,159,069       1,099,332  

The notes on pages 14 to 19 form an integral part of these accounts.

The statement of financial activities includes all gains and losses in the year.
All income and expenditure derive from continuing activities.

THE ST ANDREWS PRESERVATION TRUST LIMITED

Statement of Financial Activities (including Income and Expenditure Account)
for the year ended 31 December 2015

Unrestricted
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Total Prior
General Revaluation Restricted Endowment Funds Year

Notes Fund Reserve Funds Fund 2015 2014
£ £ £ £ £ £

Fixed assets
Tangible assets 8 184,377   -          35,842     -          220,219      215,887      
Investment property (at closing market value) 9 6,710       193,290   -          -          200,000      200,000      
Investments (at closing market value) 10 508,624   83,796     35,995     10,000     638,415      670,025      

699,711   277,086   71,837     10,000     1,058,634   1,085,912   

Current assets
Stock of Publications & Stationery 3,075       -          -          -          3,075          4,301          
Debtors and Prepayments 11 1,515       -          -          -          1,515          2,333          
Cash in Bank and on Hand 98,785     -          7,285       -          106,070      16,329        

103,375   -          7,285       -          110,660      22,963        

Liabilities
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Creditors 3,467       -          -          -          3,467          5,777          
Accruals 6,758       -          -          -          6,758          3,766          

10,225     -          -          -          10,225        9,543          

Net current assets 93,150     -          7,285       -          100,435      13,420        
Total net assets 792,861   277,086   79,122     10,000     1,159,069   1,099,332   

The funds of the charity:
Unrestricted income funds
General Fund 792,861   -          -          -          792,861      700,631      
Revaluation Reserve -          277,086   -          -          277,086      323,510      

1,069,947   1,024,141   
Restricted income funds:
Restricted Funds -          -          70,374     -          70,374        62,953        
Revaluation Reserve -          -          8,748       -          8,748          2,238          

13 79,122        65,191        

Endowment fund 14 -          -          -          10,000     10,000        10,000        

Total charity funds 792,861   277,086   79,122     10,000     1,159,069   1,099,332   

Trustees' responsibilities:
-

-

Approved by the trustees on 29 March 2016 and signed on their behalf by:-

Mr J F Matthews (Chairman) Mr A W Johnson (Vice-Chairman)

Company Registration Number: SC020194

The notes on pages 14 to 19 form an integral part of these accounts.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2015 the company was entitled to exemption from audit under section 477 of the Companies Act
2006. No member of the company has deposited a notice, pursuant to section 476, requiring an audit of these financial statements under the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

The members have not required the company to obtain an audit of its financial statements for the year in question in accordance with
section 476;
The trustees acknowledge their responsibilities for complying with the requirements of the Act with respect to accounting records and the
preparation of financial statements.

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions applicable to small companies subject to the small companies
regime.

THE ST ANDREWS PRESERVATION TRUST LIMITED

Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2015

Unrestricted
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Total Prior
Funds Year
2015 2014

£ £
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (see below) 40,944     (15,604)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Interest and dividends 32,521     33,079   
Property rents 6,180       6,048     
Purchase of tangible fixed assets (8,701) (50,618)
Purchase of investments (48,235) (68,467)
Proceeds from sale of investments 67,032     37,749   
Net cash provided by investing activities 48,797     (42,209)

Change in cash and cash equivalents in the year 89,741     (57,813)

Cash and cash equivalents brought forward 16,329     74,142   

Cash and cash equivalents carried forward 106,070   16,329   

Reconciliation of net movement in funds to net cash flow from operating activities

Net movement in funds 59,737     28,197   
Add back depreciation charge 4,369       4,508     
Deduct investment income shown in investing activities (38,701) (39,127)
Deduct gains/add back losses on investments 12,813     (3,957)
Decrease in stocks 1,226       111        
Decrease/(increase) in debtors 818          (1,125)
Increase/(decrease) in creditors 682          (4,211)
Net cash used in operating activities 40,944     (15,604)

THE ST ANDREWS PRESERVATION TRUST LIMITED

Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 31 December 2015 

The cash and cash equivalents totals brought forward and carried forward comprise cash at bank and in hand.



14 15
 11

1 Accounting policies

1.1 Basis of Preparing the Financial Statements

1.2 Reconciliation with previous Generally Accepted Accounting Practice

1.3 Fund accounting

1.4 Income recognition

1.5 Expenditure and irrecoverable VAT

1.6 Tangible fixed assets and depreciation
(i) Heritable Property

(ii) Alterations to Buildings - straight line method over 7 or 50 years
(iii) Computer Equipment - straight line method at 25%
(iv) Fittings and Other Equipment - reducing balance method at 15%
(v) Museum Fittings - reducing balance method at 5%

THE ST ANDREWS PRESERVATION TRUST LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of
Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) issued on 16 July 2014 and the Financial Reporting
Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102), the Charities and Trustee Investment
(Scotland) Act 2005, the Companies Act 2006 and the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended).

for the year ended 31 December 2015

Expenditure is recognised as soon as there is a legal or constructive obligation committing the charity to that
expenditure, it is probable that settlement will be required and the amount of the obligation can be measured reliably.

The Charities SORP requires that provision be made for depreciation of fixed assets having a finite useful life. The
trustees are of the opinion that the properties owned by the charity have an indefinite life and their aggregate fair value
is considerably in excess of cost. Any depreciation charge would therefore be immaterial. The charity has a policy and
practice of regular maintenance and repair such that the heritable properties are kept in a condition to retain their value.

Funds held by the charity are either unrestricted, restricted or endowment in purpose. Unrestricted funds are funds
which can be used in accordance with the charitable objects at the discretion of the trustees. Restricted funds are funds
that can only be used for particular restricted purposes within the objects of the charity. Restrictions arise when
specified by the donor or when funds are raised for particular restricted purposes. Endowment funds are funds which
have been given on the condition that the original capital sum is not reduced, but the income therefrom is used for the
purpose defined in accordance with the objects of the charity.

Legacy gifts are recognised on a case by case basis, following Grant of Probate or Confirmation, when the administrator
or executor for the estate has communicated in writing both the amount and settlement date.

Interest on funds held on deposit is included when receivable and the amount can be measured reliably by the charity;
this is normally upon notification of the interest paid or payable by the bank. Dividends are recognised once the
dividend has been declared and notification has been received of the dividend due. This is normally upon notification
by our investment advisor.

All income is recognised once the charity has entitlement to the income, it is probable that the income will be received
and the amount of income receivable can be measured reliably.

The principal accounting policies adopted, judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty in the preparation of 
the financial statements are as follows:

The charity meets the definition of a public benefit entity under FRS 102. Assets and liabilities are initially recognised
at historical cost or transaction value unless otherwise stated in the relevant accounting policy note(s).

In preparing the accounts, the trustees have considered whether, in applying the accounting policies required by FRS
102 and the Charities SORP FRS 102, the restatement of comparative items was required. No such restatements were
required.

Donations are recognised when the charity has been notified in writing of both the amount and settlement date.  

All expenditure is accounted for on an accruals basis.  Irrecoverable VAT is charged as a cost against the activity for 
which the expenditure was incurred.
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1 Accounting policies (continued)

1.7 Fixed asset investments

1.8 Realised and unrealised gains and losses

2 Control 
Control of the charity lies in the hands of the members who elect the trustees.

3 Taxation

4 Income from grants, donations and legacies 2015 2014
£ £

Grants and donations 19,723     42,005     
Legacies 74,194     617          

93,917     42,622     

5 Other trading activities 2015 2014
£ £

Events and Functions 10,229     10,909     
Museum Entry Donations 2,702       3,197       
Museum Income - Sales 4,106       3,964       
Office Sales 1,054       2,532       

18,091     20,602     

6 Expenditure on raising funds 2015 2014
£ £

Property Letting Expenses 1,706       1,592       
Depreciation: Let Property Fittings & Equipment 59            69            

1,765       1,661       
Expenses of Events and Functions 3,929       3,193       
Investment Manager Charges 1,177       1,017       

6,871       5,871       

Investment property is included at fair value at the year end as detailed at Note 9 to the financial statements. 

Investments, other than properties, are a form of basic financial instrument and are initially recognised at their
transaction value and subsquently measured at their fair value at the balance sheet date using the closing mid-
market price. The Statement of Financial Activities includes the net gains and losses arising on revaluations and
disposals throughout the year.

All gains and losses are taken to the Statement of Financial Activities as they arise. Realised gains and losses on
investments are calculated as the difference between the sales proceeds and the opening carrying value or the
purchase value if acquired subsequent to the first day of the financial year. Unrealised gains and losses are
calculated as the difference between the fair value at the year end and the carrying value. Realised and unrealised
investment gains and losses are combined in the Statement of Financial Activities.

In 2015 of the income from grants, donations and legacies £15,867 was attributable to restricted income funds
(2014 £40,031) with the balance of £78,050 (2014 £2,591) adding to unrestricted funds.

The charity is exempt from tax on income and gains falling within section 505 of the Taxes Act 1988 or section
252 of the Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992 to the extent that these are applied to its charitable objects.

THE ST ANDREWS PRESERVATION TRUST LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

The valuation and income from investments is apportioned between unrestricted and restrcted funds based upon a 
quarterly review of the restricted fund balances as a proportion of total funds.

An annual transfer is made between the General Fund and the Unrestricted Revaluation Reserve to reflect the
difference between the historic cost and opening carrying value of investments realised in the year. 

Investments, other than properties, are a form of basic financial instrument and are initially recognised at their 
transaction value and subsequently measured at their fair value at the balance sheet date using the closing              
mid-market price. The Statement of Financial Activities includes the net gains and losses arising on revaluations 
and disposals throughout the year.
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7 Expenditure on charitable activities 2015 2014
Unrestricted General Fund £ £
Curatorial Costs (including salary) 20,882     17,932     
Secretarial Salary and Fees 13,863     15,290     
Cost of Goods for Re-sale 621          1,444       
Costs of Productions and Publications 2,894       3,328       
Museum Heat and Light 3,674       1,708       
Office Heat and Light 1,040       952          
Insurance and Rates (including Store at 4 Queens Gardens) 2,563       2,543       
Telephone, Postage and Stationery 3,289       2,693       
Advertising and Printing of Annual Report 2,050       1,777       
Exhibition Costs 2,035       1,599       
Expenses of Meetings 653          805          
Miscellaneous Expenses 1,589       1,118       
Subscriptions and Donations 447          252          
Repairs and Maintenance 6,099       5,661       
Woodland Maintenance -          5              
Planning Advisory Fees 42            4,718       
Independent Examiner's Fee 2,760       2,280       
Depreciation 3,451       3,608       

67,952     67,713     
Restricted Funds
Museum Items Purchased (Museum Purchase Fund) 1,035       610          
Plaques and Associated Expenses (Gordon Christie Legacy)                3,078       5,763       
Insurance (Boase Wood Appeal) 195          195          
Repairs and Maintenance (Boase Wood Appeal) 810          912          
Museum Information and Storage System (Dr J Falconer Fund) 287          349          
Garden Upkeep and Maintenance (Mrs D'Arcy Thompson Bequest Fund) 1,920       391          
Kitchen and Toilet Refurbishment (Miss G Falconer Kitchen Upgrade Fund) 600          -          
Garden Upkeep and Maintenance (Miss G. Falconer Fund) 1,410       2,372       
Depreciation  (Miss G Falconer Falconry Fund) 215          175          
History Prize (Murray Income Fund) 200          -          
Depreciation (Research Room Fund) 644          656          
Interior Fittings for Research Room (Miss L Walker Fund) 532          100          

10,926     11,523     
78,878     79,236     

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

THE ST ANDREWS PRESERVATION TRUST LIMITED

Within the foregoing expenses of charitable activities the trustees regard the secretarial salary and fees as 
Support costs.
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8 Tangible fixed assets

Heritable Properties
4 Queens 
Gardens

Museum / 12 
North Street

Kenly Green 
Doocot

St Andrews St Andrews Boarhills Total
£ £ £ £

Cost:
As at 1 January 2015 78,353         118,693        13,868         210,914        
Additions/(Disposals) -               8,701           -               8,701           
As at 31 December 2015 78,353         127,394        13,868         219,615        

Depreciation:
As at 1 January 2015 10,013         3,387           680              14,080         
Charge for year 467              1,180           -               1,647           
As at 31 December 2015 10,480         4,567           680              15,727         

Net book values:
As at 31 December 2015 67,873         122,827        13,188         203,888        

As at 31 December 2014 68,340 115,306 13,188 196,834        

Furniture and Fittings

Let Property 
Fittings / 

Equipment
Office 

Equipment
Museum 

Equipment
Museum 
Fittings Total

£ £ £ £ £
Cost:
As at 1 January 2015 2,373           25,023         10,541         8,836           46,773         
Additions/(Disposals) -               -               -               -               -               
As at 31 December 2015 2,373           25,023         10,541         8,836           46,773         

Depreciation:
As at 1 January 2015 1,980           15,643         7,488           2,609           27,720         
Charge for year 59                1,893           458              312              2,722           
As at 31 December 2015 2,039           17,536         7,946           2,921           30,442         

Net book values:
As at 31 December 2015 334              7,487           2,595           5,915           16,331         

As at 31 December 2014 393              9,380           3,053           6,227           19,053         

Total net book values
As at 31 December 2015 220,219        

As at 31 December 2014 215,887        

9 Investment property
At Valuation: £
At 1 January and 31 December 2015 200,000        

THE ST ANDREWS PRESERVATION TRUST LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

The property at 136 South Street, St Andrews was valued by the Trustees at the year end at £200,000 (2014 - £200,000).  An 
independent expert valuation has not been carried out.  The historical cost of the property is £6,710.
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10 Fixed asset investments

Movement in fixed asset listed investments 2015 2014
£ £

Market value brought forward at 1 January 2015 670,025  635,350   
Additions to investments at cost 48,235    68,467     
Disposals at carrying value (67,032) (37,749)
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation (12,813) 3,957       
Market value as at 31 December 2015 638,415  670,025   

Net cash released from investments in the year was £18,797  (2014  - net cash invested £30,718).

Investments at fair value comprised: 2015 2014
£ £

Bond funds 137,131  130,137   
Equity funds 125,584  131,626   
Equities 375,700  408,262   

638,415  670,025   

The historical cost of investments at 31 December 2015 was £545,871 (2014 -  £537,567)

11 Debtors 2015 2014
£ £

Prepayments 845         1,481       
Other Debtors 670         852          

1,515      2,333       

12 Employees, trustees and their remuneration
12.1 Employees

The employees can be categorised as one on direct charitable activities and one on supporting charitable activities.
No employee earned at a rate of £60,000 pro-rata or more (2014 - none).

12.2 Trustees
No remuneration was paid to trustees during the year.
Only minor reimbursements of direct outlays were made to trustees on production of receipts.
Donations to the charity during the year, from trustees, were £370 (2014 - £12). 

THE ST ANDREWS PRESERVATION TRUST LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

The average weekly number of employees during the year on a head count was two (2014 - two).
Staff costs of the above amounted to £34,001 (2014 - £32,648) (including employers' national insurance of £197 
(2014 - £577).

All investments are carried at their fair value. Investment in equities and fixed interest securities are all traded in
quoted public markets, primarily the London Stock Exchange. Holdings in common investment funds and unit trusts
are at mid-market price. The basis of fair value for quoted investments is equivalent to the market value, using the
mid-market price. Asset sales and purchases are recognised at the date of trade cost (that is transaction value).

The significance of financial instruments to the ongoing financial sustainability of the charity is considered in the
financial review and investment policy and performance sections of the Trustees' Annual Report.
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13 Restricted funds
At 1 January Incoming Resources At 31 December

2015 Resources Expended Revaluation 2015
£ £ £ £ £

Museum Purchase Fund 1,251       483          (1,035) -          699          
Gordon Christie Legacy Fund 15,094     1,457       (3,078) -          13,473     
Boase Wood Fund 11,605     664          (1,005) -          11,264     
Dr J Falconer Fund 1,372       62            (287) -          1,147       
Mrs D'Arcy Thompson Bequest Fund 3,900       352          (1,920) -          2,332       
Miss G Falconer Fund 920          1,808       (1,410) -          1,318       
Miss G Falconer Kitchen Upgrade Fund -          13,027     (600) -          12,427     
Pride of Place Fund 596          -          -          -          596          
Murray Revenue Fund 215          487          (200) -          502          
Miss L Walker Fund 525          7              (532) -          -          
Restricted Revaluation Reserve 2,238       -          -          6,510       8,748       

37,716     18,347     (10,067) 6,510       52,506     
Funds where expenditure has been capitalised
Miss G Falconer Falconry Fund 10,131     -          (215) -          9,916       
Research Room Fund 17,344     -          (644) -          16,700     

65,191     18,347     (10,926) 6,510       79,122     

Restricted Funds

14 Endowment fund

15 Contingent assets and liabilities

16 Capital commitments
At 31 December 2015, capital expenditure commitments were as follows: 2015 2014

£ £
Contracted but not provided for in the accounts 8,151       10,091     

The Research Room Fund represents grants and donations received to assist with the building of the new research room. Costs
of £25,723 have been capitalised and are being written off as depreciation at 2% straight line and 5% reducing balance basis
annually.

The Boase Wood Fund relates to monies raised and donated to meet the need to renew fencing, remove a number of potentially
dangerous trees and to establish and implement a plan for future maintenance of Boase Wood.

The Museum Purchase Fund is restricted by a requirement of the Museum and Galleries Commission's Registration Scheme
whereby any monies received from the sale of a museum item must be placed in a fund and used only for the purchases of
further museum items.
The Gordon Christie Legacy Fund is to be used in the provision and erection of plaques on buildings in St Andrews associated
with well known personalities or events so that the inhabitants of St Andrews may be reminded of their outstanding heritage.

THE ST ANDREWS PRESERVATION TRUST LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

The Miss L Walker Fund is to assist with the provision of furniture for the research facility.

There were no contingent liabilities at the year end.

The Dr J Falconer Fund is to assist with the cost of the new information and storage system to be installed at the museum.
The Mrs D'Arcy Thompson Bequest Fund is funds provided for the D'Arcy Thompson Garden at the museum.
The Miss G Falconer Fund is to assist with revenue expenditure at the Trust garden and museum.

The Pride of Place Fund is to assist with the Pride of Place awards run by the Trust.

This permanent endowment fund was established by an original donation to be maintained as capital with the income being
applied to encourage and support the academic study of and, more particularly, original research into the historic heritage of the
Royal Burgh of St Andrews.

The Murray Revenue Fund arises from the permanent endowment whose purpose is described in note 14 below.

As at 31 December 2015 the charity had been notified of one residuary legacy, the value of which is uncertain as the executor is
awaiting confirmation of other claims on the estate, but it is unlikely to exceed £5,000.  This legacy has not been accrued.

The Miss G Falconer Kitchen Upgrade Fund is to assist with the refurbishment of the museum kitchen and toilet.

The Miss G Falconer Falconry Fund is to assist with funding of the Falconry building and costs of £10,709 have been
capitalised and are being written off as depreciation at 2% straight line annually.



20 2117 

COMMITTEES FOR YEAR 2015/2016 
 

ENVIRONMENT 
Mrs M E Denyer, Convener 

Mr W Sangster, Mr D K Seeley, Dr W K D Borthwick, Mr D H Telfer 
Co-opted members: Mr I M Christie (Keeper of the Wood and Doocots), 

and Miss G L C Falconer 
Adviser: Mr S A Kidd 

 
FUNDRAISING 

Miss I R T Bennett, Convener 
 Dr D A Barrie, Mr D H Telfer, Mrs A Long, and Mrs M E Denyer  

Co-opted members:  Mrs E J Baxter, Mr J D Beaton, Mrs K Ekanger, Mrs D Matthews 
 

MEMBERSHIP, PUBLICATIONS, PUBLICITY & PROGRAMME 
Dr D A Barrie (Membership, Publications & Publicity) Joint Convener 

Miss I R T Bennett (Programme), Joint Convener 
 Mrs M E Denyer, Miss A J Morris and Mrs A Long 

Co-opted members: Mr J D Beaton, Mr H I Greenwell and Mr S A Kidd 
 

MUSEUM 
Miss A J M Morris, Convener 

Mr R deC Chapman, Vice-Convener 
Mr A W Johnson 

Co-opted members: Mrs L Barrie, Mrs K Ekanger, Miss G L C Falconer, 
Miss P M Harvey and Mr A H Pardoe 

Curatorial Adviser:  Mrs E J Wells 
Curator: Miss S Bannerman 

 
PLANNING (APPLICATIONS) 
Dr W K D Borthwick, Convener 
Mr W Sangster, Mr D K Seeley 

Co-opted members:  Mr S Bremner, Mr P Donaldson, Mr J Peacock 
Advisor: Mr D Middleton 

Co-operation with University of Dundee: Mohammed Hussein, Robert Wills,   
Paul Lawson (postgraduates in town and regional planning) 

 
POLICY & RESOURCE 
Dr P J Murray, Convener 

Dr D A Barrie, Dr W K D Borthwick, Miss I R T Bennett, Mrs M E Denyer,  
Mr A W Johnson, Mr J F Matthews, Miss A J M Morris 

 
 

TRUSTEES, STAFF AND MINUTE SECRETARY 2014/2015 
 

Back row standing left to right: Dr D A Barrie, Mr I S Lumsdaine, Mr S A Kidd, Mr R de C Chapman, 
Mr J Peacock, Miss I R T Bennett, Mr J D Beaton,  Mr W Sangster, Mr D K Seeley,    

Dr W K D  Borthwick, Dr P J Murray, Mrs M E Denyer 
 

Front row seated left to right: Miss A J M Morris, Ms L M Lawrie (Administrator),  Mr D G Wynd, 
Miss V J Whymant (Minute Secretary) and Sophie 

 
Absent: Mr J F Matthews (Chairman), Mr A W Johnson, Mrs A Long, Mr R de C Chapman,  

Mr D Telfer, Miss S Bannerman (Curator) 
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Outside the Trust, it is perhaps worth recognising the fortitude and restraint that has been shown by 
STEPAL in the face of the sometimes abusive and frequently ill-informed and emotional attitude of 
those who support the Pipeland site.  For their part, Trustees have sought to be objective and       
courteous in any exchanges in the press or otherwise, but this behaviour should not be seen as     
softening in any way the Trust’s view that the Pipeland site is wrong, that there is at least one     
alternative and better site and that the position adopted by Fife Council is, at best, difficult to      
understand.  It is heartening to note that, immediately prior to this report going to the press the    
STEPAL appeal was upheld in the Court of  Justiciary.  A new school should be built as soon as 
possible, but not in the Green Belt and not next door to the Community Hospital.  It is believed that 
Trust members overwhelmingly support the stance taken and sustained by Trustees on their behalf.  
 
On a personal note, I agreed a year ago to stand once more for election as a Trustee to fill a one year 
gap which had arisen because of a problem in  succession planning.  That one year period ends at the 
AGM and my declining wit and energy means that it will not be extended.  In departing, may I say 
what a privilege it has been to work with such wonderful colleagues.  I offer them my warmest 
thanks and every possible success in the coming years. 
 
John Matthews 
 
 
 
 
Mr J F Matthews 
Chairman OBE FRSA 
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CHAIRMAN’S REPORT 
 
The activities of the Trust during 2015 are fully covered in the reports from committees on the    
following pages, whilst some highlights are mentioned in the formal Trustees’ Report on page 4.   
 
This report focuses more on the importance of people to the Trust. 
 
Firstly the Trustees, whether elected by members or co-opted, who spend so much time and effort 
working for the Trust in a variety of roles.  These folk are volunteers who toil for no reward and 
occasionally find themselves the targets of unthinking criticism.  They share a common goal of   
seeking to ensure that St Andrews remains a good town to live in while respecting the needs of   
students and visitors.  They all merit the thanks of members and townspeople. 
 
Secondly the volunteers, who contribute so much to the Museum and on committees.  They bring 
commitment, experience and skills to many tasks.  They represent a level of dedication typical of the 
best sectors of charitable work and their wide-ranging contributions to the Trust are vital to its    
effective operation. 
 
Thirdly the members, who support the Trust, not only with their subscriptions, but with their       
underlying belief that the Preservation Trust does things that are worthwhile for their town.  A    
challenge for future Trustees is to find ways of attracting more and younger people to become 
members (and some to become Trustees) if the organisation is to avoid a lingering death as the 
average age of members creeps ever upwards.   
 
Fourthly the benefactors, who fund specific projects or help to build the strength of the Trust’s   
finances.  Special mention must be made of Gillian Falconer whose generosity to the Museum is 
legendary but which was, for many years, something of a secret.  It is a relief to be able to thank her 
publicly at long last.  A similar level of generosity is shown by the anonymous member who has 
agreed to fund most if not all of the cost of acquiring the garden at 1 Greyfriars Garden should this 
become possible.  The Trust has also received a number of bequests, including one of over £73,000 
from a non-member.  All bequests, big and small, are gratefully received although often tinged with 
sadness at the loss of a friend.  Finally, an appeal was made to Life Members and initial signs were 
that the response would make a significant contribution to income.  Warmest thanks to all who felt 
able to contribute. 
 
The Trust functions with just two employees.  Lilias Lawrie, the Office Administrator, resigned at 
the end of the year to pursue a new life with her fiancé in the Highlands; we wish her well.  She has 
been succeeded by Annie Birrell who, at the time of writing, seems to have settled in very well.  Sam 
Bannerman, our Curator, signed a new two year contract during December to the general delight of 
all; she follows a distinguished line of Curators and is seen as among the best ever.  
 
At the AGM a number of Trustees will come to the end of their time in office.  Roy Chapman comes 
to the end of a six year mandate and his wise council will be missed.  Andrew Johnson is resigning 
early to pursue other interests, but he will remain a member of the Museum  Committee.  His efforts 
in the running of the annual Hidden Gardens event and, more particularly, as Convener of the 
Museum Development Committee displayed his outstanding energy and management skills.  



24 25
21 

THE ST ANDREWS PRESERVATION TRUST LIMITED 
 

The following booklets are available to purchase from the museum all £2: 
 Men of St Andrews 
 Women of St Andrews 
 St Andrews by the Northern Sea – Harbour and Fishing Community 
 A Sense of Place – Discovering St Andrews (2003) 
 Best Days of Your Life – Schools in St Andrews 
 The People’s War – St Andrews and the Home Front 1939-1945 
 A Century of Childhood (2004) 
 Grand Designs – a stroll down The Scores 
 Sum and Substance - The Men of St Andrews 
 When the Boat Comes In (2008) 
 Speak Up - Communication in St Andrews (2007) 
 Where the Heart Is - Recipe Book 
 Colours, Curtains and Chords - Arts In St Andrews (2009) 
 Who Cares? Health care and Medicine in St Andrews (2009) 
 The World At Our Door: St Andrews Migration and Travel Stories (2009) 
 St Andrews' Bairns: A Short History of Childhood in St Andrews (2011) 
 Here Comes The Bride: Courtship, Weddings and Married Life in St Andrews (2011) 
 Local Heroes (2010) 
 Step Into the Roaring Twenties: Discover St Andrews in the 1920s (2010) 
 St Andrews & the Great War (2014) 
 The St Andrews School (2013) 
 
Significant acquisitions in 2015 
 Three roses in a vase by Winifred McKenzie 
 Portrait of Ken Inglis by James Hoey Scott, the architect who renovated 12-20 North Street 

in the 1930s 
 Five woodcuts by Annabel Kidston 
 Collection of 19th and early 20th century costume 
 ‘Trench Body Cord’ manufactured by Charles Robertson (Chemist), 115 Market Street,  

during WW1 
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ENVIRONMENT COMMITTEE 
Convener Mrs M E Denyer 
 
BOASE WOOD 
A) 
In January 2015 the committee reported that our “Keeper of the Woods” - Ian Christie, would 
continue to keep a close eye on Boase Wood. His input has always been invaluable to the Trust. 
He has kept us informed of any health and safety issues that required attention in our woodland. 
Ian kindly continued to do so throughout the remainder of the year.  Langton's 2014 Tree Survey 
had made us aware of one particular tree which would need close monitoring. This was a beech 
tree by the fence, adjacent to the road.  As part of the wood's maintenance programme by Special 
Branch,  this particular tree continued to be inspected throughout the year.  
 
With the arrival of April, the committee suggested to Trustees that Special Branch's proposed 
company signs should be mounted below those already on site in Boase Wood. This would avoid 
a proliferation of signage within the woodland. Mark Edward was also asked to remove the   
unsightly old notice board, pinned to a tree within the wood which unfortunately was also visible 
from the main road. Trust member, Mrs Elizabeth Williams had very kindly drawn our attention 
to its state of disrepair. Unfortunately by the close of the year neither of these above proposals 
had been completed and they have had to be carried forward. However, on a positive note, after 
three different treatments, Special Branch successfully cleared away the dreaded, invasive    
Japanese Knotweed. The footpath was also cleared of leaves and dead wood removed from the 
woodland's interior. 
B) 
As a substantial amount of money still remains in the Boase Wood Appeal fund, Trustees      
discussed the suggestion of an information board for the general public, mounted at the edge of 
the wood. This would detail various aspects of the wood, including its history, acquisition by the 
Trust and its flora and fauna. As the St Andrews Partnership had been  responsible for several 
new Heritage signs in St Andrews, guidance and advice was sought from Patrick Laughlin. He 
kindly provided the salient details regarding the manufacturer, the authors who specialise in 
“interpretative writing" and the possible costing.  A planning application for this sign was     
required as Boase Wood was within the Hepburn Gardens Conservation Area. However this  
application was delayed due to the planning committee's heavy workload. As we approached the 
festive season, it was anticipated that this initiative would hopefully see fruition by the end of the 
forthcoming year. 
C) 
I reported the sad news of the death of Anne Boase in our April Newsletter. The Trust's          
condolences were expressed to the family, both from our outgoing Chairman, Graham Wynd and 
the Environment Committee.  Anne wished to have her ashes scattered in Boase Wood. Her son, 
Bill Boase contacted the Trust and informed us that this would take place on Saturday 30th May. 
Our newly appointed Chairman, John Matthews attended this poignant service along with Ian and 
Adah Christie and I, as convener.  A small memorial plaque was placed adjacent to that of Anne's 
late husband, John Lindsay Boase.  Bill Boase thanked us as Trust representatives for our      
attendance and emotional support. He very kindly offered the family's “Book of Boase” as a  
historical reference to the Trust. This historic book entitled  “The Family of Boase” circa 1893 
was    received at the Trust office a few months later and viewed by Trustees at a following board 



26 27

meeting. It is a wonderful historic tome holding the records of the families of Boase or “Bowes”, 
who originally resided at Paul and Madron in Cornwall. It contains a fascinating insert highlighting 
the family tree or as entitled, “Pedigree”. This dates from November 1609 up until November 1892 
with details of all the births, deaths and marriages within the family.  
 
It was intended to be passed on to our Curator for safe keeping within the Trust Museum's        
archives. However it was decided that for the time being, it would best serve the environment  
committee by being stored in the Trust Office. At present it is inside a box of reference material 
which was compiled for a previous display/presentation for the 50th Anniversary of Boase Wood 
that was held in 2013. This provision would allow the Environment committee to have easier   
access to any information that might be required by CMC Associates for the proposed Heritage 
sign in Boase Wood. 
D) 
In early July Mark Edward confirmed that Special Branch would be working once again at Boase 
Wood. This involved a general clearance, with the hedge by the boundary fence trimmed and   
another check made on the health of our trees. Unfortunately the artwork for the company's sign 
had not been forwarded to me as hoped, since there had not been any further communication from 
Mark Edward. However we were aware that Special Branch were extremely busy, so a delay was 
anticipated. Unfortunately their signage was not achieved in 2015 so we hoped that it would be 
completed in the coming year. On behalf of our  committee, Chair and fellow Trustees, I would 
like to place on record our thanks to Ian Christie for his diligent watch over Boase Wood during 
this year. We would also like to thank Mark Edward and his company Special Branch, for their 
“pro bono” work  throughout 2015. Their continued help and support is invaluable.  
E)  
At our March board meeting Trustees discussed the possibility of using some of the Boase Wood 
Appeal Fund to refurbish the chain fencing at Boase wood. Our local blacksmith - John Henderson 
was contacted regarding the replacement of seven missing links of chain and asked for a quote.  
This was provided to the Trust and discussed at our April meeting. Work on the chain fencing in 
Boase Wood was started  a few months later when two new steel posts were erected.  As the year 
came to a close, I was able to report at our November board meeting that this restoration had been 
fully completed and Henderson Fabrication's invoice had been paid.  
F) 
During 2015 we received a request from Jenny Sibbald of “St Andrews In Bloom”. She sought 
approval to plant Heritage daffodil bulbs in two areas of the wood that were quite sparse of spring 
flowers. This was  especially noticeable in an area next to the path, by the metal railings. Trustees 
agreed to this proposal, as did Ian Christie.  Planting out with Bloom members, along with a group 
of primary school pupils and some members of the Trust was hoped to take place in September. 
However because of time constraints, this did not go ahead as planned. A new date during the first 
couple of weeks of December also fell through. As a result, the bulb planting was proposed to take 
place in the New Year. 
 
 
LADE BRAES SURVEY 
At our October board meeting, Trustee Bill Sangster informed us that the Community Safety Panel 
had submitted an objection to Fife Council regarding the condition of the footpaths. Fife Council 
had said that they would attempt to improve conditions but had not given a timescale for the work 
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to be undertaken. Our Chairman stated that he would contact Mr Jim McArthur and Mr Martin 
Passmore to ascertain what action could be taken. Mr Jim McArthur, a partner in Hardies     
Property & Construction Consultants, Chairman of the St Andrews Partnership and a member of 
BID was instrumental with an initial survey. He carried this out himself, at no cost to the       
Preservation Trust. This was an extremely generous offer which would assist us in any future 
plans for repairing and maintaining the walkways of the Lade Braes during the coming year.  At 
our November meeting our Chairman reported that Mr McArthur had indeed walked the length 
of the Lade Braes and had taken note of its condition. Trustees, Bill Sangster and Marysia 
Denyer had taken lots of photographs that highlighted the disrepair on the public footpaths. 
These initiatives were seen as a first stage in trying to get the Lade Braes upgraded for the safety 
of the general public. 
 
SHOP FRONTS 
In January, we reported that Minick had taken over the premises in Bell Street, formerly known 
as Baguette Express. Dr John Frew had always considered their cast iron pillars to be the finest 
example in the town.  Elspeth Methven on retirement, also ceased trading at her lingerie shop at 9 
Church Street. Mr Julien Poix, owner of “La Petite Epicerie” in Anstruther became the new 
owner. These premises were one of the first shop fronts to be restored to their Victorian   heritage 
and received a “Pride of Place Award”.  A meeting was arranged with Mr Poix, to discuss any 
proposals that he had for this historic shop front. Grateful thanks were extended to him since he 
agreed to preserve this unique Victorian shop front and only change its name.  
 
Another business that changed hands during the year was in Bell Street, a mere stone's throw 
away from Minick. The former premises named “Bella Italia” was acquired by the large        
restaurant chain called “Tony Macaroni”.  They were advised of our concern regarding the  
protection of this restored shop front.  A meeting took place on Tuesday 8th September with 
Marinis property manager, Mr John Millar.  As our Chairman was on holiday, I was most    
grateful to Bill Borthwick, Planning Convener and Vice Chairman, accompanying me as an  
advisor. This was an informal, positive and constructive meeting held at their other property, 
“Nardinis”.  As work on the shop front was actually in progress, we were delighted to be       
informed that as requested, our gold leaf restoration had been retained. Mr Millar supplied us 
with a copy of their designer's proposals for the rest of the exterior which would extend above the 
adjoining shops. Bill was able to advise on several design aspects that required reconsideration in 
order for the company to receive full planning approval. He provided Mr Millar with details from 
the “St Andrews Design Guidelines”, along with contact details of the planning officers involved, 
for possible further advice. 
 
A final restoration that must be mentioned is that of “Mr Milanos” on South Street which was  
successfully restored during 2015. Once again our thanks are extended to our craftsman, Jake 
Brown. However we were also aware that the gold leaf restoration at Chesterhills had been 
painted over during the summer by its new owners - Gosmore Wealth Management. Our     
Chairman  attempted to contact them on numerous occasions but unfortunately without    success. 
Nothing daunted, as this impasse has not ended at the close of this 2015 report. All that can be 
said is onwards and upwards in the forthcoming year! 
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GREGORY’S PILLAR 
Members may recall the unveiling of the Gregory Plaque and Meridian Line during the autumn 
of 2014. As a result, the Trust had its attention drawn to Gregory's Pillar on Scoonie Hill. This 
stone pillar, marks the southern end of his meridian line. It is shown on the Ordnance Survey 
map and stands in the back garden of a farm cottage on the hill, a couple of kilometres south of 
St Andrews.  The University had expressed their wish to collaborate with the Trust regarding 
ways that we could preserve this pillar for posterity. Trustee Bill Borthwick very kindly agreed to 
take this project forward on behalf of the environment committee. This would also involve other 
key individuals who had expertise and knowledge of James Gregory.  
 
SCOTTISH CIVIC TRUST “MY PLACE” AWARD 
Due to the proverbial time constraints the Trust was uncertain as to whether we would enter the 
Scottish Civic Trust's “My Place” Award 2015 as submissions were required by the end of 
January. However we were delighted to report that the Trust did indeed submit an entry. The 
University's Martyrs Kirk Research Library was chosen as our project. Trustee, Simon Kidd 
took up this time consuming work on behalf of the Environment Committee. He committed   
himself to the necessary research. Our submission was received by the Scottish Civic Trust   
before the extended deadline of the 7th February. The judges visited Martyrs Kirk on Wednesday 
18th February and the awards ceremony took place in Glasgow on 26th March. We were        
delighted to be awarded with a commended certificate.  For members who may be interested, this 
submission can be viewed online at the weblink below. 
 
http://www.myplaceawards.org.uk/galleries/2015-gallery-of-entrants/martyrs-kirk-research-library.aspx 
 
Unfortunately Simon Kidd decided to stand down as a Trustee at our AGM in May. The        
Environment Committee and Trustees extended our sincere thanks to a tireless and enthusiastic 
colleague. As a real stalwart of the environment committee, regrettably we were unsuccessful in 
asking him to stay on board for another term. His keen dedication to our  committee and all Trust 
activities was invaluable. Personally, I was very grateful for his support as this committee's 
“novice” convener. His assistance with our submissions to the Scottish Civic Trust was         
magnanimous.  However, I was delighted when he agreed to become our committee's advisor 
during my remaining term in office. It has been reassuring to know that we could call upon his 
assistance as and when it was required. 
 
Finally I have chosen to end this 2015 report on a positive note which could also be considered as 
a “cliffhanger”! At our November board meeting we discussed projects that might be considered 
for the Scottish Civic Trust “My Place Award 2016”. As none were proposed it was suggested 
that we should enter a different category and nominate an individual as our Civic Champion. 
Trustees unanimously agreed to nominate Bill Sangster's profile as our entry for the “Civic 
Champion Award” 2016. As to the future and our success with these awards, personally I 
would wish to be seen quite simply, as the eternal optimist!! 
 
 
 
 

FUNDRAISING COMMITTEE 
Joint Convener Mr A W Johnson : Mrs I R T Bennett 
 
HIDDEN GARDENS 
This is the largest single fund raising event in the Trust’s calendar, 2015 was no exception.  
As in previous years the gardens chosen were the source of much positive comment from our visitors 
and sense of satisfaction for those who took part. 
 
We were grateful to those gardeners who offered the visitors refreshment and respite in the loveliest 
surroundings, these ranged from delicious Allan Hill strawberries and cream at June Baxter’s, to tea 
and home baking, the monies raised added significantly to our funds. 
 
Visitors to the Museum garden were treated to a wonderful array of stalls for which we are most 
grateful, our thanks among others goes to Jill Cameron whose craft work is always  admired and 
which raises a large amount of money for the Trust. Thanks to Irene Bennett and her team, there was 
an opportunity to take refreshments in the garden whilst listening to the younger members of the Fife 
Horn Union.  The Curator, Museum Committee and Volunteers worked very hard to ensure the  
visitors had an enjoyable time, our thanks as ever to them all. 
 
The stalls at St Johns Garden were varied and offered interesting buying opportunities, the catering 
team did us proud with the most splendid selection of delicious home baking and mouth watering 
sandwiches, the latter selling out very quickly. Those taking their refreshments out doors were    
entertained by that well known master of the accordion, Mr Billy Anderson, to whom our grateful 
thanks. 
 

We were delighted that our main sponsor, Thorntons Law, agreed to continue their support for a 
further three years. With this commitment we are able to offset the cost of posters and promotional 
material and advertise the event further afield. 
 
Visitor numbers of 638 were slightly down on 2014 thought the net profit of £5814 was up. The 
ticket sales included 29 ‘early bird tickets’, an offer to members of a reduced price if purchased prior 
to the event.  It is clear from speaking with those who attended that many are travelling from out of 
the area to attend the event.  
 

Much work is done after the day, I would like to thank in particular Ian Lumsdaine and Simon Kidd 
for the not inconsiderable task of reconciling and banking the results.  Our thanks also to Allan 
Niven for his help in collecting and returning the tables and chairs from Holy Trinity Church hall.  
 

This was my last year as Chair of the organising committee, I would like to end this report by    
thanking all who have supported the event during my five year tenure. 
 
MEMBERSHIP, PROGRAMME, PUBLICITY 
AND PUBLICATIONS COMMITTEE 
Joint Convener Dr. D. A. Barrie (Membership, Publications and Publicity) 
 
Two committees continued to meet as one with joint conveners Simon Kidd and Derek Barrie. 
Simon will submit his own report on the programme aspect of this Year Book. My thanks go to   
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fellow trustees Marysia Denyer, John Beaton, Irene Bennett and Anne Morris for their efforts 
throughout the year, along with co-opted members Howard Greenwell and Colin McAllister. 
 
The committee’s deliberations and actions are always more in the public eye when an increase in 
subscription levels is contemplated and then implemented.  The increase proposed was the first for 
six years and would be effective from 1st January 2016. Single membership was increased from £18 
to £25 and joint membership from £30 to £40. 
 
 The trustees wrestled with the question of what to do about life membership. Most organisations 
with a category of life membership set life membership subscriptions at 10 x single membership. 
With longer life spans being the norm we raised single life membership to £400 and joint life     
membership to £800 We do not expect many, if any takers. Indeed we are effectively attempting to 
kill off life membership. 
 
The chairman of the Trust, John Matthews argued that a substantial number of life members had 
benefited financially and proposed an appeal to life members to make a donation to show how well 
they had done from life membership. On a related matter we have been promoting legacies, through 
mentions in our newsletters. Within the last two to three years we have had legacies amounting to the 
best part of £180,000. 
 
This committee has the responsibility for the design and production of the annual Trust Christmas 
card(s). It also markets the cards primarily through the annual charity card sale organised by Rotary. 
This year we continued to sell ‘the snowman on the old course’ at full price and in addition a new 
card from a design by local artist Liz Yule. Cards from previous years were sold at bargain prices. 
There is no doubt that takings by all charity stalls are reducing annually as fewer people send cards. 
The MPPP committee’s plans for Christmas 2016 envisage again only one new card.  
 
The committee started work this year on a Trust calendar for 2017. Two previous years’ calendars 
had been produced, the first for 2014 breaking even and the second for 2015 making a small profit 
thanks to sponsorship from local businesses. For the 2017 calendar we started preparations in 2015, 
aiming to have the calendar on sale at the 2016 AGM. Again we have secured sponsorship from 12 
local businesses. The calendar is being designed by Arlen Pardoe who was co-opted to the committee 
for this purpose. We hope to sell many more calendars on this occasion as, in addition to having 
copies on sale at the AGM they will be available at  Hidden Gardens, which we have not previously 
managed, sponsoring businesses will also sell the calendars 
 
I continued to have responsibility for the Trust’s regular newsletter to members. Four editions were 
produced for 2015 but trustees have now agreed to reduce the number produced each year to three. 
These editions will be for March, July and October. This will not, however, mean any fewer mailings 
because the Year Book and Annual Report will have to go out separately to members rather than 
along with a newsletter. I am indebted to Howard Greenwell who lays out the newsletter prior to its 
being printed by West Port Print and Design. We also have a first class working relationship with 
Fiona McEwan of West Port Print and Design. A big “thank you” is also due to Simon Kidd who 
delivers on foot the copies for members in the town. Of late he has been joined in this task by     
Veronica Whymant (and, of course, Sophie the guide dog). 
Trustees are to be thanked for prompt providing of copy within deadlines and for assistance with 
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“stuffing” of envelopes for each edition. We have also continued the practice, which I thought was 
welcomed by members, of including with the newsletters “fliers,” detailed information about events 
and the Trust’s stance on various local issues. An example of the former was the introduction of a 
special offer to members of reduced price tickets for Hidden Gardens. On local issues members have 
been informed of  the Board of Trustees opposition to the siting of the new Madras college at     
Pipeland and support for STEPAL’s legal action on the issue. 
 
The “publicity” remit of the MPPP committee is largely carried out through press releases to the 
“Citizen” and the “Courier”. Most of what we send in is carried in some shape or form. But it has to 
be noted that the interest of the newspapers is largely to report on events which have taken place. On 
the other hand the Trust’s press releases are often aimed at getting advance publicity for events still 
to happen to try to increase public involvement. Coverage, sometimes with photographs, has been 
obtained of Trust events such as the annual lecture, erection of plaques and the summer reception. 
We also got excellent coverage through a feature on the new “Research Room” at the museum    
written up by Citizen reporter, Maureen Ferrier. 
 
Publicity for events continues to be achieved through volunteers delivering posters and “fliers” to 
shops, hotels, guest houses etc. throughout the town and the neighbouring coastal villages (especially 
in relation to Hidden Gardens). A big effort to publicise the event is always made.    Roadside     
placards are erected on main routes into the town, this year by John Matthews and Andrew Johnson. 
Yet again we are indebted to Jude Innes for the excellent shop window she has produced advertising 
the event. 
 
In our relationship with the press we try positively to promote the Trust. Since we frequently object 
to major planning applications we are often seen as being wholly negative. This is why our press 
releases project a positive approach by the Trust as much as possible. But there is little doubt that a 
significant majority of local people support our stance on Pipeland as a wholly unsuitable site for the 
new Madras |College. We have had no adverse reaction from members to that stance. Our Planning 
Committee considers very many applications and, MPPP leaves press releases on planning          
applications largely to the Planning Committee because much of what it covers is technical and  
requires expertise which the Planning Committee has. 
 
Finally, I turn to publications an idea which germinated over five years ago has come to fruition this 
year. The then curator of the museum, Jennifer Reid noted that many visitors asked if there was any 
information available about the building in which the museum was housed. She set about            
providing that information by writing a short pamphlet which was finally printed in late 2015. We 
were also fortunate in obtaining a grant for publication from the Strathmartine Trust. An order form 
is to be mailed out to all members and the pamphlet sells at £4 or if posted £5 to cover postage and 
packing.  It has been very well received. 
 
The committee has carried out its remit efficiently throughout the year. Membership has remained 
fairly stable. On the whole press coverage has been adequate. We have kept in touch with members 
through our newsletters. The Trust has maintained a high profile in the town.  
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PROGRAMME 
 
Joint Convener Mr S A Kidd  (to 14 May 2015) 
 
Joint Convener Miss Irene R T Bennett  (from May 2015) 
 
Members gathered at the Fife Folk Museum, Ceres on 21th April to be greeted by Wynne Harley, 
Chairman of The Fife Museum Trust, for a tour of their exhibits, a mix of permanent and annual 
presentations.  Opened almost 50 years ago, the display rooms have been added to many times and 
now occupy two buildings either side of the High Street.  The latest expansion (2014) has facilities 
for receiving visitors, hosts an excellent tearoom, where we were sustained from the menu of freshly 
prepared home-cooking, and highlights a scenic location on the banks of the Ceres Burn with a range 
of agricultural implements on view in the garden.  They have been awarded funding from Museums 
and Galleries Scotland for the employment of a full-time curator.  We were blessed with glorious 
spring weather for two fascinating guided walks around the village, led by Dr Paula Martin, to    
appreciate the former importance of the village in serving the community, to observe many of the 
architectural quirks retained on cottages and public buildings, and to hear stories of past local     
worthies still remembered today. 
 
The Summer Reception with buffet and drinks was held in the Museum Garden on Friday 24th July. 
There was glorious sunshine for most of the day so the gazebos were erected in anticipation of a 
perfect evening. Unfortunately the heavens opened at five o’clock so some mopping up had to be 
done before the guests arrived at 6.30pm. The weather had cleared up by that time and about 60 
guests enjoyed good food and good company in the garden. 
 
The Golf Championship and the Putting Competition were held on Monday 24th August and 
Wednesday 26th August respectively. There were fewer entrants for the putting this year but,       
nevertheless, an enjoyable evening was had. The golf championship was won, for the third          
consecutive year, by Howard Greenwell and the winner of the ladies’ championship was Anne 
McFarlane. Colin McAllister won the putting competition with a round of 42 which included three 
holes in one. The winning lady was Frances Humphries with a 46. The raffle, ably organised by 
Marysia  Denyer, raised £72. A buffet supper was served in the Ladies’ Putting Club shelter after the 
putting. 
 
On 7th September, 35 members met at the British Golf Museum for tours of the reconstructed and 
extended displays on the ground floor.  We were fortunate to hear the insight of our guides, Museum 
& Heritage Curator, Kevin Knox and Learning Access Assistant Curator, Hannah Fleming.  All  
aspects of the game’s history are featured, from the earliest variants embraced by the Dutch, adapted 
and refined at St Andrews in competition with many other towns along the Scottish coast which 
nurtured a similar area of links turf, to equipment, trophies, fashions, photography and art, the         
St Andrews Ladies’ Putting Club, Royal captains of the R&A, development around the world,         
St Andrews Open Champions … ending by practising with a hickory putter and a feathery ball.  The 
tours concluded with an opportunity to sample the new café with its panoramic views across            
St Andrews Bay and the Links.  Visits to the Museum are thoroughly recommended whether to  
improve our knowledge of the ‘home of golf’, to entertain holidaying family and friends or just to 
relax in the café away from the traffic congestion of the town centre. 
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The fourth Annual Lecture was held in the Town Hall on Friday 2nd October. The lecture was    
delivered by Dr Michael Turnbull on the subject of ‘Saint Andrew: Myth, Legend and Reality’. Dr 
Turnbull, a former school teacher and further education lecturer, had recently published a book of the 
same title, which was available for sale during the evening. The lecture was followed by drinks and a 
buffet. 
 
The Quiz Evening, which was scheduled to take place on 5th November, had to be cancelled. Very 
few teams showed an interest and The New Golf Club was not fully functioning following their fire.  
The Winter Reception for members and guests was held in All Saints’ Church Hall on 4th December. 
The hall was decorated by Anne Morris and Marysia Denyer ; drinks were served by Andrew     
Johnson and John Beaton. Marysia was in charge of the raffle which raised over £100. The         
University of St Andrews Saxophone Quartet entertained, finishing their programme with a seasonal 
selection. 

 
MUSEUM COMMITTEE 

Convener Miss A J M Morris  
 
Mission Statement 
The St Andrews Preservation Trust aims to maintain and develop the Museum as an integral part of 
its organisation and to document, conserve and expand the collections in keeping with the           
Collections adopted as an Accredited Museum. The Trust aims to display and interpret the          
collections for the enjoyment and education of local residents and visitors to St Andrews and to   
support research into the Town’s history through the collections.  
The St Andrews Preservation Trust Museum Forward Plan: January 2014 - January 2016 
Author: Samantha Bannerman, Curator. 
 
In furtherance of these aims, 2015 has proved to be yet another successful year at the Museum. The 
Curator has achieved and completed, with the help of an excellent team of Volunteers and with the 
support of the members of the Museum Committee, many of the stated objectives. It was established 
at the first Meeting of the Committee held after the Trust’s AGM in May 2015 that the composition 
of the Committee would remain as before as all the members were happy to continue and as        
individual Committee members had successfully undertaken particular tasks in support of the      
Curator they would continue to do so in their ‘specialist field’. 
 
The Programme of events in the Museum began with the Research Group’s very successful        
Exhibition held from the 30th January – 8th February 2015. Thelma Haworth, the Guest Exhibitor, is 
to be thanked for sponsoring the very well-attended Preview held on Friday 30th January. 
The Coffee Morning held on Saturday 31st of January was also a great success and the Exhibition 
had over 100 visitors on the first day. Thank you to all of the Trust Members who attended the    
Coffee Morning as your support is appreciated. Over 200 visitors, whose comments were very    
positive, attended StAnza’s 2015 Exhibition - held between the 5th - 8th March - which included an 
exhibition of Art & Poetry inspired by the Bell Pettigrew Collection.  
 
The Easter Exhibition :  Preserving our Past which showcased the Trust’s most recent acquisitions 
opened on 28th March and closed on the 26th April. There were 858 visitors during that period. 
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Festival of Museums 2015 – Troubled Waters :015-17th May -  This weekend event was well       
attended. Tours of the Ladyhead took place on Friday night and Saturday afternoon with captivating 
story-telling and folk-singing taking place on Saturday afternoon. There were many visitors from 
abroad taking videos & photographs of the performances. Joan Clark, Fishwife (aka Marysia 
Denyer) did a splendid job of ‘reeling–in’ visitors to the exhibition!! 
The Exhibition, entitled The Intimacy Issue, and arranged by the members of the student Photo 
Magazine, Stereoscope, was held between the 2nd -5th May with 103 people attending the Exhibition 
Launch. The event was partly sponsored by the University’s Art History Department and in return 
for hosting the Exhibition the Museum received advertising space in the student magazine. The new 
document ‘Agreement for the Use of Museum Space by External Bodies’ devised by the Curator was 
signed by the exhibition’s co-ordinator. The successful Summer Exhibition ‘Furs, feathers, frills & 
florals : four decades of fashion : 1919 -1959’  closed on the 4th October 2015. The Curator is to be 
congratulated on an exhibition which featured the contrasting fashions designed during four decades 
of social, political and economic extremes - from recession and utility fashion to haute couture. 
Additional activities which took place taking place during the Summer Exhibition included Fashion 
Gallery Talks on 3rd July & 7th August. 
 
The 1st St Andrews Girls’ Brigade & Guildry Exhibition which was curated by the current company 
of the 1st St Andrews Girls’ Brigade and which celebrated 100 years of their history, was held     
between the 10th-18th October and was exceptionally well attended and greatly appreciated by over 
450 visitors, which is an outstanding number. 
A number of the girls were on duty in the Museum during the Exhibition and answered visitors’ 
questions admirably. 
 
The excellent & very enjoyable performances of ‘The Wit and Humour of Alan Bennett’ on the 18th 
and 19th November were a great success with both performances sold out. We are extremely grateful 
to Alan Tricker and Brenda Hunter of Red Wine Productions for their generosity in staging this fund-
raising event for the Trust. The refreshments served at the performances were also very generously 
provided by Alan Tricker.  The Annual Art & Craft Exhibition was also extremely well attended 
with over 400 visitors and a final figure of £673 raised for Trust Funds.  
 
The Museum’s previous exhibition Troubled Waters, which focused on local shipwrecks and the 
daring rescues made by the lifeboat crews, went on tour to the Fisheries Museum, Anstruther in  
November 2015  and will be seen at  HM Frigate Unicorn from 7th January – 25th February 2016. 
Such a request from other Museums is a great tribute to the Trust Museum Curator, Samantha     
Bannerman. 
 
The short film which will be used in the Blacksmith Exhibition was completed in November by the 
students of the University of Dundee. A final edit is being completed by the Curator ready for the 
opening of the Exhibition in Spring 2016. As the Project for her Degree, Museum & Galleries 
M.Litt. student, Bianca Packham, has refurbished/re-interpreted the Chemist’s Shop. Whilst        
preparing the new lay-out Bianca came across a box of 29 items which were removed by the       
University’s Chemical Hazards Adviser, Dr Aitken, who disposed of the contents. Dr Aitken also 
compiled a list of the contents which will be very useful in the re-display. 
 
The Grand Opening of the Research Room and The Falconry held on Sunday 19th April went       

well - with no rain! An enjoyable Summer Celebration Reception was held on Sunday 14th June in 
the Museum Garden, for Trustees and Volunteers, to thank them for their contribution and support 
during the development of the Research Room and the Garden Store.  Andrew Johnson’s unstinting 
attention, regular site visits and scrupulous vigilance of the works undertaken have resulted in an 
outstanding development and thanks are due to him & to all of those who have contributed their 
skills in creating such a splendid enterprise. The cast–iron pillars have been re-conditioned and 
erected and are firmly in place against the wall; the refurbished boilers are in place and filled with 
plants the Research Room is proving to be an excellent resource block paving has been laid around 
the new build and new paving- stones have been laid to broaden the path leading into the D’Arcy 
Thompson Garden to facilitate the use of wheelchairs. 
It is to be hoped that Members will have already visited the Garden to admire the notable            
developments which will enhance visitor experience & draw in many more visitors.  
We are indebted to Andrew Johnston for arranging for the purchase of new chairs for use in the   
garden and in the Museum. He also arranged for the old chairs to be uplifted. 
Miss Gillian Falconer is also to be thanked, as she has provided the funds for the purchase of the 
chairs. A whiteboard has been placed in the Falconry for the use of the Garden Volunteers.  
I would refer you to the Report by the Chairman of the MDC Committee, Andrew Johnson, which 
provides the up-date on the proposals for the design and establishment of a Sensory Garden as well 
as providing details of the work undertaken on the improvements to the cloakroom and kitchen 
within the Museum. 
 
Arlen Pardoe has fitted a doorbell connection within the Research Room. In addition he has fitted a 
much more appropriate door-bell fitting at the front door, replacing the plastic fitment with a most 
attractive antique-style bell push. 
The partition wall in the upper Gallery has been removed and the area cleared. The upper Gallery has 
been restored to its previous dimensions and the stone fireplace is once more in view providing a 
much-improved space for exhibition displays. 
The attic space has been cleaned up by the Curator and Volunteer Lesley Barrie to make room for a 
new, and much safer, loft ladder to be fitted. 
 
The 2015 Programme of Winter Talks for Volunteers began in January with a very interesting tour, 
led by Claire Robinson, of the MUSA exhibition ‘Doctors in the Making’ and in February volunteers 
visited the Masonic Rooms, South Street where Andrew Johnson gave a very informative and     
interesting talk entitled Free and Accepted Masons. In March Kevin Knox provided an excellent 
insight into the history of Club Makers throughout the centuries. In March the Curator held a Coffee 
Morning to recruit Volunteers. She advertised the event through the Mailing List, the Fife Volunteer 
Centre website, the Fife Volunteer website, online ‘What’s on’ listings and social media. 
Volunteers as well as providing Guides at the Museum are also required for the other Volunteer 
Groups which include Scrapbooks, Gardening, Care and Maintenance and the Research Group.  
Recruitment of Volunteers is on-going and if you feel you would like to join the team please contact 
the Curator. She would be very happy to hear from you! 
An enjoyable End-of-season Party for Volunteers was held in October following a fascinating talk by 
Hannah Fleming from the Golf Museum on ‘Golf Fashion’ The Programme of Winter Talks for 
Volunteers continued with a ‘thrilling’ talk in November by Richard Falconer on ‘St Andrews     
Mysteries’. 
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The Annual Christmas Party was held on Wednesday 9th December 2015. During the Party, Gillian 
Falconer led ‘reminiscences’ of ‘Shops which used to be in St Andrews’.  A small token of           
appreciation was presented to Anne Thorne, a Volunteer, who was moving out of the area in       
December. Anne has supported the Curator on a weekly basis, over many years, in itemising and 
making an inventory of objects in the Museum Store as well as helping to accession papers etc which 
were gifted to the Trust. She will be sorely missed and she leaves with our gratitude and very best 
wishes for the future.  A coat stand and a new laminator have been purchased from the Volunteers’ 
Fund. 
 
The Curator continues to strengthen the links with schools and other organizations by arranging tours 
of the Museum and Garden.  Amongst the organised groups who visited the Museum over 2015 were 
the 4th St Andrews Brownies whose tour of  the Museum assisted them in obtaining their ‘culture’ 
badge. They also enjoyed the Treasure Hunt in the garden and a donation was made to Museum 
Funds. In April the Curator welcomed 19 members of the Friends of Dundee City Archive who made 
a visit to the Museum and Garden. St Leonards Juniors visited the Museum in October for a tour and 
object handling session. Two 6th Year pupils from Madras College visited in November for a tour of 
the Museum and to find out about the Archive material held in the Museum. 
 
Museum Galleries Scotland Heritage Horizons Traineeship Programme: Unfortunately, due to        
on-going health issues, the Trainee has had to withdraw, by mutual consent, from the Heritage    
Horizons Traineeship Programme. I know that members would wish to join the Museum Committee 
in     wishing Francesca well in the future and to thank her for her contribution to past events held in 
the Museum. 
 
The Preservation Trust Museum Budget for Year to 31st December 2015: The Curator and the     
Convener continued to receive monthly ‘returns’ from the Treasurer Ian Lumsdaine, with his      
comments throughout 2015. These were studied and if required Ian advised on necessary action. A 
meeting was held in December 2015 to plan the proposed Budget for Year to 31st December 2016 
and after study of the 2015 Budget figures a Museum Budget for 2016 was drawn up and approved 
by the Treasurer. 
 
Appendix 2 in the afore-mentioned Forward Plan details the way in which ‘the Museum consults the 
views of visitors in order to continually improve the visitor experience year on year’. One such    
vehicle is Trip Advisor and the comments received during 2015 were all very favourable with many 
scores of ‘excellent’. Comments in the Visitors’ Book are equally complimentary. As we note the 
many successful events organised and delivered in 2015 I know that you join the members of the 
Museum Committee in their ‘Congratulations!’ & ‘Thanks!’ to the Curator and her Team of very 
willing and able Volunteers for all their creativity, hard work and support, without which the Trust’s 
Museum could not be described, as it was on Trip Advisor, as -  “a wee gem which is well worth a 
visit”. 
 
Finally some very ‘Good News’ - the Curator’s new 2 year Contract : January 2016 – December 
2017 - has been accepted and signed by Samantha Bannerman. 
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MUSEUM DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 
 
Convener Mr Andrew W Johnson 
 
Our work outside in the Museum garden continues apace.  It was decided to transform the patch of 
ground in front of the research room into a sensory garden for the benefit of the visually impaired 
with access also to wheel chair users.  With this in mind an approach was made to the horticulture 
department of Elmwood College in the hope that the students would find this a beneficial and     
rewarding project.  I am pleased to report that the prospect was met with enthusiasm and              
commitment and that at the time of writing the students are busy preparing a ground plan for our 
consideration.  To ensure the resulting plan meets what may be considered ‘essential criteria’, we 
propose to ask the opinion of others working with the visually impaired for their view as well as 
Veronica Whymant. 
 
Once the costs of the project have been identified an appeal will be made to suitable bodies for   
financial support.  Donations from members would be most gratefully received courtesy of the    
office. 
It is hoped to have the work completed and the garden ready for use by late spring.  
 
Our focus has now turned to internal developments, in particular an upgrade to the museum kitchen 
and toilet. Funding for the project has been generously provided by Gillian Falconer to whom our 
most grateful thanks.  Having taken note of the comments of the regular users of the facilities, a 
specification was drawn up and supplied to three local companies asking for their cost for the     
installation.  The committee recommended to the Trustees the design and quote from Mr Terry   
Turpie of Auchtermuchty.  Mr Turpie’s proposal was for a bespoke kitchen ’made to measure’ as 
opposed to one off the shelf  ‘made to fit’. 
 
The work is planned to commence and be completed by the end January 2016. 

 
PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 

 
Convener Bill Borthwick 
 
The Committee 
The year 2015 has seen a number of changes to the Planning Committee. 
John Peacock stood down as convenor of the Planning Applications Committee with effect from the 
2015 AGM but remains a co-opted member.   Former planning convenor David Middleton also  
provides advice on planning policy.  The Committee greatly appreciates their vast experience and 
commitment.  The Committee is also fortunate to have co-opted Mr Sandy Bremner and Mr Peter 
Donaldson.  Sandy is an active Chartered Quantity Surveyor, with vast contract experience. Peter is a 
retired Conservation Architect, who was in partnership with Murray Jack before joining Historic 
Scotland,  We are fortunate to add to the broad range of knowledge and experience already residing 
with committee members.  In addition we benefit from the active participation of students of Town 
and Regional Planning at the University of Dundee, more of which later.  This all makes for       
interesting and lively discussion at our fortnightly meetings!  
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Overview of applications reviewed 
Although the number of planning applications registered in 2015 is slightly down compared to 2014, 
it has nevertheless been a very challenging year.  In all, 295 applications of all types were registered 
in the St Andrews ward during 2015.   Thirty-three of these related to HMO applications for a total 
of 130 occupants. Twenty were new applications, 12 of which were refused. Thirteen CLE          
applications for 53 occupants were registered. Twelve were approved – almost all in the central   
conservation area.   This indicates that the moratorium on new HMO’s  and regularisation of letting 
in the central area is broadly working, but the flip-side is that there is a perceptible growing trend for 
new HMO’s outwith the town centre, despite the increased supply of student beds.  These include the 
private facilities such as Ayton House, The East Sands student accommodation, as well as University 
managed accommodation such as the redeveloped Fife Park. There is also some evidence that    
dwellings in the town centre are being divided into smaller units - possibly to get around the       
moratorium.  Such trends do need to be monitored as they can result in the gradual change in      
character, sense of community and the amenity of an area or street.    
 
We also continue to see many applications for extensions and applications for listed building     
consents relating to extensions, double-glazing, dormers and skylights.  Fortunately most of these do 
not affect the streetscape, and/ or follow the St Andrews Design Guidelines and therefore do not 
require representation.   However, a close watch needs to be kept on applications for shop fronts, 
signage and advertisements, especially in the central conservation area.  Whilst the majority do    
conform there have been examples which are marginal and others which do not comply and should 
be subject to an enforcement order. 
 
Major applications in 2015 
There have also been several major ongoing and new applications to occupy our limited resource in 
2015.   
 
In May, we objected to the revised plans for the re-development of the Police Station site at 100 
North Street with 16 flats. Although the proposed design is nicely detailed, our concern is the    
massing and increased height, which will detract from the settings of the very fine and historic   
buildings opposite.  The proposal was approved. 
 
In July, the Trust lodged its objection to the Proposal for Planning in Principle (PPiP) for 350 houses, 
hotel, retail and workspace/office accommodation at Craigtoun North.   The committee considered 
that the application was significantly contrary to the St Andrews and North East Fife Local         
Development Plan, the FIFEPlan and the evolving TAYPlan.  The main basis for the Trust’s       
objection to this premature and pre-emptive application was the lack of a Master Plan for the whole 
of St Andrews West (designated STA01).  The master plan is foreseen by all of the above plans as 
essential for the balanced development of this whole area.  It should set out requirements for housing 
(including affordable), road and green networks, hotel, retail, employment and other land uses. It 
should also enable definition of the limit of development through designation of the Green Belt, thus 
preserving St Andrews’ landscape setting and cultural heritage in perpetuity.  Moreover the master 
plan should be drawn up by all the main stakeholders, including the general public.  Other major 
concerns raised in the objection included the very high housing density, potentially large negative 
impact on transport in the area, and risks associated with the gas main and electrical power line that 
split the site.  The application has yet to be determined. 
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In September, the Trust added its weight to well over 50 objections to the application for Planning 
Permission in Principle for 41 dwelling houses on New Park Playing Field.  The application failed 
to establish a positive case for this piecemeal development which does not comply with several key 
provisions of the Adopted St Andrews and East Fife Local Plan 2012, most notably in respect of 
policies relating to Community Needs and Safeguarding and Improving the Environment.   In the 
2012 local plan the site is designated as Protected Open Space.  Major concerns include the         
disproportionate effect this development would have due to the loss of public amenity space which is 
at a premium in St Andrews and the impact it would have on one of St Andrews’ most precious  
assets - the rural character of the Lade Braes.  This is probably the last stretch of the Lade Braes with 
semi-open “naturalised” views hardly affected by encroaching development. Its loss would be deeply 
regretted.  The application has still to be determined. 
 
Rusacks Appeal 
The Scottish Government Directorate for Planning and Environmental Appeals’ decision to uphold 
the MacDonald Resorts appeal against Fife Council’s refusal for a six-storey extension at Rusacks 
Marine Hotel is one of the most disappointing planning decisions to affect St Andrews in recent 
years.   The Trust’s objection was based largely on the overbearing scale and design that is 
unsympathetic to the existing, varied roofline along The Links, the very plain roof detailing, and the 
large scale of the bland south elevation which will be very visible on entering St Andrews along the 
A91.   The reporter seems to have concentrated more on privacy, lighting and parking issues, 
apparently paying little heed to design quality issues that are vitally important to this heritage 
location -  imposing no conditions relating to scale and design.  In our judgement it would have been 
a relatively simple matter to have imposed conditions on the design that would go a long way to    
meeting the Trust’s concerns and those of neighbours, whilst still enabling the hotel to offer world 
class facilities.  This surprising decision appears to give more weight to short term commercial   
drivers than securing the timeless, historic setting for the Home of Golf.  
 
TAYPlan 
The Trust responded to the public consultation on the TAYPlan.  In general terms the plan has     
laudable planning objectives and proposes actions (mostly based on integrating elements of local 
plans) aiming to realise these objectives.  The Action Programme is however short on detail in    
respect of solutions.  There is a general lack of evidence to support many of the proposed actions.  
Specific issues raised by the Trust included:  
 importance of defining and preserving Green Belt areas; 
 the need for better analysis relating to integrated regional approaches to sustainable transport 

(including opportunities for Guardbridge light rail links) and sustainable heat and power 
systems; 

 The need for more rigorous, strategic assessment of economic and employment opportunities 
and housing demand in St Andrews (including affordable housing) that addresses the      
polarised demography; 

 The need for a realistic assessment of the potential for new academic and business          
opportunities linked with the university; 

 The provision of health care, care-home and schooling needs to be addressed in a more   
integrated manner TAYPlan level. 
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The consultation was a rather unsatisfactory online tick-box exercise.  The online application, which 
must have been very expensive to produce, was designed more for ease of assimilating responses 
under individual policy areas, rather than support a respondent with concerns spanning several    
different, yet inter-related, policy areas.   Only bodies and companies with substantial resources 
would have the capacity to respond effectively and hence influence the Plan. 
 
Co-operation with Dundee School of the Environment 
The committee is very appreciative of the co-operation with staff and students of the University of 
Dundee’s School of the Environment, a number of whom have become regular advisers at our     
planning meetings – most notably Mohammed Hussein, Rob Wills and Paul Lawson.  We were sorry 
to lose the assistance of Mohammed during 2015, a postgraduate student in town and regional     
planning who gave freely of his time, contributing valuable advice on planning and policy matters.    
During March 2015, Barbara Illsley (now retired), gave two excellent and informative lectures to 
Trustees on Scottish planning policy.  The Trust has reciprocated with presentations of case studies 
to under- and post-graduate students in 2014 and 2016.  Dumiso Moyo, who succeeds Barbara    
Illsley, is now our staff contact. We look forward to a continuing collaboration.  
 
Looking forward 
There is relentless pressure for development in St Andrews from local, national and even            
international businesses, the University, The Links Trust and, of course, residential developers.  
Maintaining a balance between these various sectoral interests will be crucial to maintaining a vital 
and inclusive community.  The character and amenity of our historic town can so easily and quickly 
be destroyed by overdevelopment which would place intolerable pressure on infrastructure and the 
provision of vital services.  The recent proposals for a replacement Madras on the newly established 
Green Belt at Pipeland, the proposed major redevelopment of the Gatty Laboratory on the East 
Sands, and the mixed use development at Craigtoun North,  illustrate the need for a much more   
rigorous implementation of the holistic, master plan approach that integrates issues such as land-use, 
transport and the built and natural environment.  The above also illustrate the crucial importance of 
meaningful consultation between all stakeholders, including above all, St Andrews’ citizens.     
Whatever the outcome of the Judicial Review of the Pipeland application, there will be many      
important planning issues to be addressed. 
As ever, pressure on the committee is remorseless and, whilst we are fortunate to have a good mix of 
skills, youth and experience on the committee, the sheer magnitude and complexity of large planning 
applications, the ever-changing planning policies and regulations, and the short consultation       
deadlines frequently places us at, or beyond, the limit of our volunteers’ capacity.  We nevertheless 
consider that our efforts and occasional successes are essential if the objectives of the Trust are to be 
realised. 

POLICY AND RESOURCE COMMITTEE 

Convener Dr Peter J Murray 
 
The primary role of the Policy and Resource Committee is to undertake the detailed development of 
policy issues, to plan for the future of the Trust, to deal with the Trust’s general and financial      
management and to recommend courses of action to the Trustees. Its core membership comprises the 
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Chairman, the Honorary Treasurer, the other Committee Conveners and any Vice-chairmen who are 
not also Committee Conveners. 
 
The Committee, established in June 2013, continues to give detailed consideration to the Trust’s 
financial health, principally through the monthly financial reports from the Treasurer, whose own 
report is elsewhere in this document. Unsurprisingly, the most important fundraising event was    
Hidden Gardens Day, which took place on Sunday 28 June, 2015. Once again it was a very         
successful day overall. As is now normal, almost 50% of the Trust’s income comes from the       
dividends and interest from our portfolio, which continues to do well under the management of 
Speirs and Jeffrey in Glasgow. 
 
Still on the financial front, the Trustees are experimenting with a small number of Donation Boxes in 
hotels and shops. They have been in place for only a short time before the end of the calendar year, 
so it is too early as yet to determine whether they will provide a meaningful and regular source of 
funds, or, indeed, if they are currently situated in the best locations. It will take some time to       
establish whether the experiment has been a success. If it has, we may invest in additional boxes. 
Certainly, we are very grateful to those businesses which have agreed to host Boxes.  
 
You may remember that the Committee’s first task was to develop a short Strategic Plan, which was 
adopted by the Trustees in October, 2013. That Plan identified seven strategic priorities and projects, 
the majority of which have now been successfully completed. Comment is made below on those 
which are still ongoing. 
 
The Committee continues to receive regular reports from Lead Trustees on their areas of             
responsibility. Most of these are covered elsewhere in the Annual Report but the fate of the garden of 
no. 1 Greyfriars Garden is not and it continues to cause concern. Further attempts were made to get 
the owner to take proper care of this strategically situated property - but without any obvious      
success. Discussions were held with Fife Council; and offers of purchase were made and rejected. 
The St. Andrews Partnership agreed to sign a joint letter with the Trust to the owner but, just before 
it was due to be sent, negotiations seemed to be making some progress, so, for the time being, it has 
been held back. Hopefully, 2016 will see a final resolution of this long-running sore. 
 
Another issue which has occupied the Committee is the future of the historic Bogward Doocot,    
situated just off the Lade Braes. Attempts were made by the Trust some years ago to buy the Doocot, 
as it was generally accepted to be responsible for its upkeep. For some reason which I could not 
work out from the files, the purchase was never completed. After discussion, it has been agreed that 
we should now move to finalise the purchase and our lawyers have begun that process. There is  
another historic Doocot (at Kenly Green - within the Trust’s agreed area of responsibility) and once 
the conveyance of Bogward is finalised, consideration will then be given to that building. Yet again 
the Trust has paid for that Doocot’s maintenance over the years and it seems sensible, having      
invested considerable sums of money, for us to take on formally through ownership, the              
responsibilities which the populace at large tend to regard as ours in any case. 
 
As the one of the Trust’s principal roles is to preserve the historic character of St. Andrews, it has 
long played a key role in recording and explaining the history of the town through its publications. 
As we noted last year, many of the Trust’s own records, which are valuable sources for the history of 
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the burgh, have been passed for safe keeping to the archives section of the Library of the University 
of St. Andrews. On a different but related tack, so as to further original research into the history of 
the town, the Trust has established a biennial financial prize and medal for a published or            
publishable article in a recognised academic journal. The first winner was Dr Sally Foster of the 
University of Stirling for an article entitled: “The legacy of nineteenth century replicas for object 
cultural biographies: lessons in duplication from 1830s Fife”. A presentation ceremony of a cheque 
and Certificate was held at the Trust’s Museum on 30 November (appropriately St. Andrews Day) 
and we received good press coverage. The Trust is very grateful to the staff of the St. Andrews    
Institute of Scottish Historical Research for providing the academic judging panel. There were seven 
entries from across the UK, a wider field than we might ever have contemplated. Thus the         
Competition served both to spread knowledge of the work of the Trust and to recognise and       
encourage outstanding research on the history of St. Andrews. This first Competition was organised 
in some haste, given the intention of meeting the St. Andrews Day deadline, so there was           
insufficient time to have the commemorative medal ready. It is currently being prepared by a      
specialist firm in Edinburgh and should be available soon. Dr Foster will, of course, be sent an    
engraved medal in due course. The next Competition will take place in 2017.  
 
Finally, and still in the sphere of history, the Trust is delighted to support the work of Miss Veronica 
Whyment on an oral history of St. Andrews. In the first instance she will record the memories of 
town residents and others of the 1940s and 1950s. The Trust will purchase the necessary recording 
and transcription equipment and do everything it can to help identify potential interviewees.     
Members are invited to contribute to the project themselves or by suggesting the names of others 
whose recollections should be recorded. Miss Whymant may be contacted via the Trust’s Office.  

 

TREASURER’S REPORT 
Honorary Treasurer Mr Ian S Lumsdaine 
 
The major asset of the Trust is the portfolio of investments which the trust has managed to build up 
over many years.  The income from this portfolio brings in nearly half of our unrestricted income 
for normal activities and I am pleased to report that our holdings have again managed to show a 
satisfactory return. We do hold regular meetings with our investment advisers, Speirs & Jeffrey, but 
we do try not to change the holdings too often as we believe that investments have to be made for 
the long term.   
 
During 2015 income from our other normal operations were running very close to budget but 
changed dramatically with the receipt at the end of the year of an unrestricted  legacy of £73,193 
from an individual in England who visited St Andrews regularly  and appreciated the work that the 
Trust does in trying to maintain the character of the town. These funds were still in our bank 
account at the year end as we were unable to invest these funds in our portfolio by the year end but 
this was finalised early in 2016.  All who attended the Hidden Gardens day in June will have 
enjoyed the good weather and this has the effect of keeping this main fundraising event to the 
forefront of our fundraising. 
Work on the two buildings in the museum garden was completed in April and final costs have been 
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capitalised in 2015. Part of these costs were financed by donations and grants.  
 
Expenditure is closely monitored against budget and has been maintained at a satisfactory level in 
comparison to previous years. There has been a small increase in maintenance of our properties 
which is so hard to predict, but has put these assets in good shape for future years.  Another cost 
which is very difficult to forecast is if we require to employ specialist consultants to assist our  
planning committee with complex planning applications or where we cannot cope with the tight 
timescales imposed on some appeal dates for some applications. We have not had to make use of 
outside consultants in 2015. 
 
The Trust has been fortunate to receive donations over the last few years which have a restriction 
placed on them regarding where the funds must be spent. The transactions on these restricted funds 
are shown in note 14 with an explanation of the restrictions on each fund. Our thanks must go to all 
the donors for this financial assistance. One item that we were able to claim this year was a refund 
of VAT of £1,054 which had been incurred on the plaques erected from the Gordon Christie Legacy 
Fund. This refund was from the Memorial Grants Scheme run by the UK Government. The funds 
held on all these restricted funds are treated as part of our total portfolio and bank balances and a 
pro-rata share of the income is allocated to the respective funds. 
 
Our External Examiner for many years, Ian Palfrey of Henderson Black, retired during the year but 
is continuing as a part-time consultant for a short period. Our sincere thanks go to Ian for all his 
help and guidance over many years. The Trustees agreed to the appointment of Joanne Paul, also of 
Henderson Black, as our External Examiner.  Joanne has come in at a time when new regulations 
regarding the format of the accounts of a charity have been introduced and I am very glad to report 
that Joanne has given the Trust great guidance in ensuring that we comply with the new regulations.  
 
Our Administrator, Lilias Lawrie left at the end of December and we have been very fortunate in 
the appointment of a new administrator, Leigh-Anne Birrell at the start of January 2016. She likes 
to be called Annie. The accounting calendar entails the finalisation of the December and year end 
reports and files in January. There is also the recording of the new subscriptions in January and she 
has applied herself very well during these new and busy times.     

 
 
 
In the name of the Trustees 
J F Matthews OBE FRSA 
Chairman 
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A History of Mount Melville 

by 

David Nicol Scott 

 

Mount Melville House circa 1915 
St Andrews Preservation Trust Archives 

 
Mount Melville is situated to the south-west and 2.5 miles from the centre of the ancient town of        
St Andrews. Like its close neighbour, Mount Melville has a rich and wide ranging history. 
Throughout history, Mount Melville and the surrounding lands have been owned and lived in by 
many interesting and aristocratic families. Mount Melville and its policies, was also the home of less 
noble and more ordinary people who lived and worked on the estate in farming the land, tending 
livestock, mining and in service at the ‘Big House’.  
The Mount Melville estate and mansion house has undergone many incarnations over the centuries 
and this is no more so than when it was transformed into Craigtoun Maternity Hospital. Over time, 
part of the Mount Melville estate has been transformed into Craigtoun Park for the benefit of the 
public, the Duke’s Golf course was created on another area of the estate and the mansion house is 
currently being prepared for its next life as a number of luxury residences. During the latter part of the 
last century, the Home Farm had been sensitively transformed into private dwelling houses now called 
Mount Melville Steading, many of which have been given list B status by Historic Scotland. 

To avoid confusion it is worth saying that the the original stables and coach house is now called 
Mount Melville House. This change was made by Captain James Younger in circa 1947. Before this 
period in the descriptions that follow, any reference to Mount Melville House is to the Mansion 
House.  

The 16th Century  

In the 16th century the area now known as Mount Melville may not have been described or recorded as 
Mount Melville, but was set down as an integral part of the Craigtoun estate, situated in the parish of 
St Andrews and St Leonards. Early records show that in 1521, the lands of Craigtoun were owned by 
James Dundas of Craigtoun. The southern half of the estate was a farm, farmed by Andrew Ferry, a 
tenant farmer - ‘the southern half of the toun1 and lands of Craigtoun fued to Andrew Ferry Senior in 
life rent, Andrew Ferry his eldest son, and Isobel Morton (Myreton) his (Ferry junior’s) spouse in the 
Lordship of St Andrews Priory’.i   

In these early times almost all of the lands in north-east Fife and property subsisted under this feudal 
system with fues paid to the Priory of St Andrews or other ecclesiastical foundations in that city.       
St Andrews Priory was a priory of Augustinian canons, established as a result of political and military 
tensions between Scotland and England. Their lands were granted by royal charter in the 12th and 13th 
centuries and were carved up into lordships in the 16th century, although the core and title remained 
into the 17th century. 

The wealth of the Priory of St Andrews when at its height was very great indeed with payments being 
made in coinage, wheat, meal, beans and other farm produceii. Four other Priories depended on it: Isle 
of May, Pittenweem, Loch Leven and Monymusk. It had a considerable extent of land belonging to it, 
particularly the prior acres in the immediate neighbourhood of St Andrews. It had a substantial annual 
income.  

In 1581 it is recorded that Andrew Ferry and Thomas Mitchell in Craigtoun were occupying parts of 
the bog of Drumcarrow. 

The ‘Books of Assumption’iii  which contain Scottish Ecclesiastical records from the time of the 
reformation around 1560 show that in 1587 Craigtoun was ‘listed among the fermes in silver of all the 
lands in the lordship of St Andrews Priory, leased for £7’ (probably the lifetime rent referred to 
earlier). It also shows that ‘listed among the ferme rentals paid yearly to St Andrews Priory, 
Craigtoun also paid 8 bolls of wheat’ (approx six bushels or 140lb).  

The 17th Century  
In 1611, the records are imprecise and ambiguous but there appears to be a transfer of Craigtoun 
‘temple’iv lands owned by Mr John Ayton of Kinaldy to Lord Binning (later the Earl of Haddington) 
under the auspices of St Andrews Priory. Grants of temple lands were made mainly in the 12th century 
to provide income and support for the two charitable orders operating in the Holy Land during the 
Crusades: the Templars and the Hospitallers. 
In 1642, records show that Craigtoun was owned by James Lumsden of Innergellie who was granted 
‘the touns of Craigtoun and Lumbo with the meadow of Craigtoun and the coals in Prior Muir 
commonly called the commonty2 between Craigtoun and Drumcarrow Craig’. There had been early 
evidence of coal mining in Prior Muir with the earliest evidence of coal mining anywhere in Fife 
arising from a charter in 1235. 

	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  
1 Farm and farm buildings: a hamlet in an estate. 

2 A piece of land in which two or more persons have a common right.     
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John McManusv in his detailed book ‘Mining between Ceres and St Andrews’ provides excellent 
detail on the history of mining and the working arrangements in the Mount Melville area, showing  
that J W Melville was the owner of working mines at Craigtoun and Winthank and Mr J Nairn was the 
owner of mines at Denork, Claremont and Craigtoun. As this narrative is the history of Mount 
Melville and its inhabitants, it would be remiss not to mention the hardships and nature of the work 
carried out by these early Fife miners (including women and children) and McManus’s detailed 
descriptions are certainly worth further reading. Mines were active in Craigtoun, Winthank and 
Denhead until 1863, but the gas coal mines of Denork and Claremont estates continued until around 
1880.  

Historical land registry documentation indicate that in 1643 Sir John Weymss of Craigtoun        
(1571-1649) owned the lands of Craigtoun and Drumcarrow, but it is not clear whether this was the 
entirety of the lands of Craigtoun or part of it, but he is likely to have been the recipient of the tithes 
or rents from the mining activities in Craigtoun. 

Sir John Weymss was a major and controversial figure in the Scottish establishment of the 17th 
century. He was appointed commissary of St Andrews University by his father-in-law and more 
nepotism saw him elected as rector in 1611 with the provocative brief of ‘inculcating a discussion of 
ecclesiastical law that fostered conformity between the Scottish and English churches’vi.  

During the troubled reign of Charles I (1600-1649), John Weymss of Craigtoun published a political 
treatise entitled ‘De Regis Primatu Libellus’vii. An anonymous critic commented ‘that in this Booke 
the Authoritie Royal is so far advanced, that never heathens ascribe more to their Kings and 
Monarchs’. He cited in the preface, ‘kings are more of a divine condition, in hyde and shew, they are 
only to be thought men; But in Effect are to be accounted to bee good Angells. It effeires us to cast 
our eyes and direct our mindes to them as to humane gods, having affinity almost fellowship in the 
divine honnor’. The work’s subtitles indicate his intention to vindicate royal power in both church and 
state. The reporter noted with disgust that ‘for his pains, Weymss got to bee a Councellor and Lord of 
Session’. 

Two years later, in 1645, Cameron became a post reformation parish and was disjoined from the 
parish of St Andrews and St Leonards. A general assembly of the Kirk held in St Andrews in that year 
ordered the establishment of a new parish called Cameron, which incorporated various lands, 
including Craigtoun. 

On the 3rd May 1679, Archbishop James Sharp was murdered at Magus Muir, a part of the Craigtoun 
lands and policies of the 17thcentury.3  James Sharpviii in today’s parlance might be called by some, a 
devious and dangerous political operator, who turned his back on Presbyterianism to promote 
Episcopalianism. His ambition was rewarded when he was consecrated as Archbishop of St Andrews.  
He was returning to St Andrews with his daughter Isabella via Magus Muir when his carriage was 
surrounded by a band of Covenanters, led by John Balfour of Kinloch. They dragged the Archbishop 
from his carriage and stabbed him to death. Balfour told Sharp that they were not slaying him for 
personal malice, but for causing the death of the Covenanters.  

	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  
3 Leighton, in the ‘History of Fife, Vol 3’ states ‘within the enclosures of Mount Melville is a stone 
which marks the spot where Archbishop James Sharp was murdered: these lands then formed part of 
the extensive muir called Magus Muir’. 

The site of the murder is at Bishop’s Wood, St Andrews KY16 9RZ (NGR: NO 15110)ix.   There are 
memorial cairns at the site containing three monuments in close proximity to each other.  Local 
folklore believes that the Archbishop’s ghost can still be seen and heard at times in the area.  

By 1693, records show that Craigtoun estate was in the ownership of Mr Thomas Nairne of Craigtoun 
‘in toun and lands of Craigtoun and their temple lands in the parish of Cameron’. He was a Dean of 
Guild of St Andrews, who acted as a burgh magistrate.  

The first mansion house at Mount Melville was commissioned and the grounds were laid out in 1698 
by General George Melville of Strathkinness (1636-1707), 1st Earl of Melville, a Scots aristocrat and 
statesman, who succeeded his father in 1643 as Lord Melville.  

  

Melville had an interesting if chequered career having to leave Britain for the Netherlands in 1683, 
with his son David Leslie Melville, Earl of Leven as they were suspected of being involved in a Whig 
conspiracy (The Rye House Plot) to assassinate Charles II and his brother the Duke of York, the 
future James VII. They joined a group of British Protestant exiles under the banner of Prince William 
of Orange, with Melville becoming his chief Scottish supporter. 

However, he fared much better on his eventual return to Scotland and played a prominent part in 
Scottish and English politics, becoming Keeper of the Privy Seal in 1693 and later President of the 
Privy Council of Scotland4 with an annual salary of £1000.00x, a considerable income in the late 17th 
century. 

He is reputed to have been the inspiration for Sir Walter Scott’s hero Henry Morton in ‘Old 
Mortality’. 

	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  
4 The president was a high office of State and the Privy Council was a body that advised the monarch 
on political, administrative, economic and social affairs of Scotland. 

General George Melville of Strathkinness  
(1636-1707), aristocrat and statesman 

by Sir John Baptiste de Medina 
 
Supplied by kind permission of the Scottish 
National Portrait Gallery 
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The 18th Century 
By the late 18th century the mansion, known as Mount Melville, had been rebuilt. General Robert 
Melville (1723-1809) is credited with this and a watercolour of 1796 depicts Mount Melville House's 
principal elevation of three-storeys and an asymmetrical façade.  
 
 

 

A H Millar in his 1895 edition of ‘Fife Pictorial and Historical’ in his review of Cameron parish, 
describes it as ‘the finest mansion in the parish. The house is built in the free Grecian style of 
architecture, which was popular about a hundred years ago, an elegant pillared portico forming the 
main entrance, the front elevation having that simple form of decoration that the style demands’. 

Robert Melvillexi was an extraordinary man, who was born at Monimail, Fife, on 12 October 1723 and 
had a distinguished military and academic career.  In 1744 he became an Ensign with the 25th Foot 
Regiment (King's Own Scottish Borderers).  He later served in Antigua, and saw action at 
Guadeloupe in 1759. He was appointed Lieutenant-Governor, then in 1760 made Governor of 
Guadeloupe. His brief was extended in 1763 to Governor of Grenada, the Grenadines, Dominica,      
St Vincent, and Tobago. When a part of these territories was ceded to France after capture during the 
American War of Independence, Melville travelled to France to negotiate on behalf of British settlers. 
At his death without issue on 29 August 1809, he was the oldest general in the British army. 

The 19th Century 
In 1818, the estate of Mount Melville passed to John Whyte-Melville of Bennochy and Strathkinness 
(1797-1883).  

John Whyte-Melvillexii was educated at Eton and Trinity College, Cambridge; formerly in the 12th 
Lancers, and afterwards major in the Royal Fifeshire yeomanry cavalry. He was a magistrate and 
deputy-lieutenant for Fifeshire and married in 1819 Lady Catharine Anne Sarah Osborne, the 
youngest daughter of the 5th Duke of Leeds. He had two daughters and a son, George John, born in 
1821.  

 

General Robert Melville (1723–1809),  
Soldier and Antiquary 

by Sir Henry Raeburn 
 
Supplied by kind permission of the Scottish 
National Portrait Gallery 
 

  
 
By 1821, the 18th century mansion had been replaced by a new house designed by James Gillespie 
Graham and is thought to have encased parts of the earlier mansion.  
 

 

John Whyte-Melville was a member of the Royal and Ancient Golf Clubxiii  for 67 years. His obituary 
in the ‘St Andrews Citizen’ provides a good insight into the man as it includes the following; ‘He was 
fertile in resource and apt in the despatch of business – impatient of maundering, and anxious to have 
business done – but never grudging his time or labour when real work was on hand’. 

Although predeceasing his father by five years and therefore never inheriting the family seat of Mount 
Melville, the story of Mount Melville would be seriously incomplete without the inclusion of George 
John Whyte-Melville (1821-1878) - ‘the forgotten son of St Andrews’xiv. 

John Whyte-Melville (1797-1883) of 
Bennochy and Strathkinness 

by Sir Francis Grant 

Reproduced by kind permission of the Royal and    
Ancient Golf Club of St Andrews 
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Georgexv was rich enough to have been a gentleman of leisure, but began to write and as a prolific 
writer he wrote in all 25 novels. He lived for some years in Northamptonshire after his marriage and 
then moved to Tetbury in Gloucestershire. He published some translations of Horace in 1850, and in 
1853 his first novel appeared, ‘Captain Digby Grand’.  He was particularly skilled at training young 
horses into finished hunters. It was ironic therefore that he met his death while riding his favourite 
horse the Shah while riding with the Vale of White Horse Hunt near Malmesbury in Wiltshire. He 
was buried at Tetbury.  A memorial fountain was erected in his memory in Market Street in               
St Andrews which is still there today.    

Whyte-Melville's father survived him, and at his death in 1883 Mount Melville Estate passed to his 
kinsman, John Balfour (1811-1893), who assumed the name of Melville in addition to his own. 

Ten years later his brother James Balfour-Melville (1815-1898), a solicitor, inherited. On his death his 
son took over but shortly after, in 1901, he sold Mount Melville Estate to Dr James Younger       
(1856-1946) of the Scottish brewing family, William Younger and Co of Edinburgh. 

The 20th Century 
James Younger married Annie Thomson Paton (1864-1942) in 1886, daughter of the very wealthy 
Thomson Paton, Managing Director of John Paton, Son & Co. 

Paul W Waterhouse (1861-1924) was commissioned by the Youngers to design and build a new 
mansion on the existing site. Paul Waterhouse was an important and eminent architect of his day, 
becoming a partner in his father’s practice in 1891.  He also designed the University Union for          
St Andrews University, the Younger Hall and the St Regulus Club and the National Provincial Banks 
in Paris, Brussels and Antwerp. He became president of the Royal Institute of British Architects for 
1921-1923. 

Paul Waterhouse’s design is the building that stands today, with echoes of Scots Renaissance 
architecture, situated within site of the Duke’s Golf Clubhouse and overlooking the ninth fairway. It 

Major George John Whyte-Melville 
(1821-1878) Sportsman, Soldier, Author 

by Sir Francis Grant 

Reproduced by kind permission of the Royal and 
Ancient Golf Club of St Andrews 

 

 

was completed in 1903 and the family appear to have made it their main residence. James and Annie 
Younger had three children, Mary (b1881), James Paton (1891-1976) and Dorothy (b1892) and 
celebrated their silver wedding anniversary in February 1911. The Youngers continued with a major 
remodelling of the Mount Melville Estate, with their chosen architect, Paul W Waterhouse. 

In 1902 Waterhouse’s commission led to the current design of the pink sandstone mansion house, 
which Historic Scotland describe as ‘This huge pink sandstone Jacobean chateau had an opulent 
interior, with the most ornate exterior reserved for the garden façade (Gifford 1992, p.132). Using the 
same site meant that there was no need for new drives and approaches; thereby the parkland layout 
was retained, as were the Walled Garden and ancillary estate buildings. Waterhouse laid out formal 
gardens, between 1902-10, mainly south of the mansion; including an Italian Garden, Rose Garden 
and a Cypress Avenue, terminated with a temple. The Walled Garden was remodelled and furnished 
with a summerhouse. In 1920 a further commission for Waterhouse involved the design of major 
landscape works, including the creation of a series of lakes with a picturesque Island village, set to 
the south of the mansion’. The island village is locally known as the Dutch Village and similar to 
many mansion houses of the period, the lakes were probably added for insurance purposes to provide 
a nearby supply of water in case of a fire.  

Paul Waterhouse’s commission was also extended to include the equally impressive stables and coach 
house.  

Under the ownership of Dr James Younger, the Estate was divided into two - the in-hand estate, 
where all the farming and other businesses were managed by the Home Farm (arable, grass land and 
woodland) and the ‘let’ estate comprising the remaining area of seven farms where farming and other 
enterprises were rented by tenants. The ‘let’ estate included Burnside, Denork, Easter Clatto, Clatto, 
Claremont, Lumbo and Balone farms.  

The Home Farm was progressively run down during the late 1970s; in 1980 the Home Farm buildings 
were converted into the B listed dwelling houses, now called Mount Melville Steading and further 
east is Prospect Row now dwelling houses, originally estate workers’ houses. In 1982, a new 
company called Mount Melville Estates was formed by Stephen Younger, the grandson of Dr James 
Younger to manage and operate the remainder of the original estate. He farmed 300 acres some of 
which was eventually sold by the new company to form the Duke’s Golf Course. Mount Melville 
Estates still owns and operates farm land to the south-east of Balone under the ownership of Stephen 
Younger from his base in Strathkinness. 

The Estate was a large employer in the area and highly regarded as one of the best Estates in Scotland 
to work for.  

The ‘Big House’ was run by a housekeeper and served by a butler, private secretary, ladies’ maid, 
four footmen, six housemaids, cooks and kitchen maids. The estate was managed by a factor who 
lived in the ‘factor’s house’ at the bottom of the driveway that now leads up to the Duke’s Clubhouse. 
At its peak, the estate employees included twenty four gardeners, foresters, a joiner, six sawmill 
workers, farm workers, a nurse, four dairymaids, carters, gamekeeper, under gamekeepers and 
stockmen. It is highly likely that in the early part of the 20th century, the Mount Melville Estate was 
one of the larger employers in north east Fife, with a total workforce of around 100. Many of the 
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employees in service at the ‘Big House’ were vetted by McKay’s Domestications in Edinburgh. It is 
reported that a jeweller from St Andrews came to the house once a week to wind up the clocks. 

Mrs Annie Younger was acknowledged as being a remarkable and important figure in the day to day 
running and management of the estate, St Andrews University has an archive of information and 
letters relating to the day to day operation of the Mount Melville Estate, from 1900 -1947xvi.  

Nelda Seed in her comprehensive book about Strathkinnessxvii wrote in 1986, ‘The Youngers and Mrs 
Younger in particular took a personal interest in the village and Mrs Younger’s generosity is still 
remembered.’  

Mount Melville was also serviced by its own railway station built in the latter part of the 19th century 
as part of the Fife Coast Railway.  Andrew Arbuckle, in his book, ‘Footsteps in the Furrow’xviii  wrote 
‘Trains played a vital part in the development of other enterprises. They brought wagons that would 
take the milk to Dundee and Edinburgh on a daily basis. Cans of fresh milk would be loaded at little 
stations like Mount Melville, Luthrie, St. Fort, before being carted off to Dundee, Kirkcaldy or even 
Edinburgh’. 

The station was to the east of the A915, south of St Andrews, near the humpback bridge at the end of 
the Lumbo Farm Road.  In the 1960s the line became uneconomic and the section from Leven to        
St Andrews was shut to passengers in 1965 and to freight in 1966. The remainder of the line from 
Thornton to Leven was closed in 1969.  

In 1917 James Younger was given an honorary doctorate by the University of St Andrews; he and his 
wife maintained a close connection with the university, donating the Younger Hall there in 1929 and 
funding extensive donations for the building and renovation of All Saints’ Episcopal Church and      
St Gregory's, North Street. 

Over the centuries many famous guests stayed at Mount Melville including Rudyard Kipling in 1922 
when he was made Rector of St Andrews University. A copy of an article from a newspaper of the 
day showed a guest list at Mount Melville including Earl Haig and Stanley Baldwin, the Prime 
Minister.  

Mrs Younger predeceased her husband and died in 1942. Dr James Younger died in 1946. 

In 1947 the estate was broken up and Mount Melville House and part of the gardens was sold to Fife 
Council. From the 7th - 11th April that year the contents of the ‘Big House’ were auctioned and the 
auction catalogue comprised 2247 items for sale. 

Also in 1947 Mount Melville House along with 47 acres and the East and West Avenues, was 
purchased by Fife County Council for £25,000. Its name was changed to Craigtoun, and the grounds 
were established as a Country Park. The remainder of the estate continued to be farmed by the Mount 
Melville Estate. The mansion became a hospital until 1992 when it was sold, together with 330 acres 
of parkland to the Old Course Hotel, St Andrews who developed the Duke’s Golf Course in the west 
park. 

Craigtoun Country Park 
A newspaper article in the ‘Courier’xix perhaps summed up the general public’s view of Craigtoun 
Park rather well when the author wrote ‘Mention Craigtoun Park to anyone of a certain age in 
Courier Country and they might well get misty-eyed with nostalgic, childhood memories of the Dutch 
Village, the rowing boats and the miniature train. For many, the emotional attachment to Craigtoun 
is, of course, literally a lifelong one with many — including this writer — born at the long since 
closed Craigtoun Maternity Hospital’.  
 
In 2012 the Friends of Craigtoun group was formed to work in partnership with Fife Council to run 
the amenities in the Park. The summer of 2013 saw the Craigtoun Park reopen with amenities 
operated by the Friends of Craigtoun and the Park grounds and gardens maintained by Fife Council. 
Through hard work, determination, fundraising and council grants, the Friends of Craigtoun have 
brought the Park back to life, reviving many of the traditional attractions as well as creating new ones.  
This has proved highly successful and reconfirmed the need for the Park and its attractions, with 
visitor numbers increasing year on year. 
 
Craigtoun Hospital 
As part of the drive by the NHS in Scotland to create specialist hospitals, the ‘Big House’ was 
converted in 1949 into a maternity hospital and renamed Craigtoun House. There are many post war 
Fifers, of a certain age who were born in Craigtoun Hospital and who regard it with great affection. 

Historic Scotlandxx in their publication, ‘Building up our Health’, recognised that Craigtoun Maternity 
Hospital was a rather special place when they wrote ‘Perhaps one of the most lavish was Craigtoun 
House on the edge of St Andrews, converted into a maternity home by Fife County architect, Robert 
Sorley Lawrie (d.1980), in 1949.  In later years, Craigtoun became a geriatric hospital until its final 
closure in 1992.  

Ownership by Kosaido Company of Japan 
 In 1992 the Old Course Hotel owned by the Japanese company Kosaido, purchased Mount Melville 
House together with 330 acres of the estate parkland, in the west park, to build the Duke’s Golf 
Course designed by Peter Thomson.  By this time, Historic Scotland had classified Craigtoun House 
as a list B property and it was included in Historic Scotland’s Buildings at Risk Register.   Craigtoun 
House was by this time in a very poor condition internally and externally.  

The 21st Century and the Future .... 

Ownership by the Kohler Company of Wisconsin USA 
On 5th October 2004, the Old Course Hotel, the Duke’s Golf Course and Craigtoun House (the former 
Mount Melville Mansion House), was acquired by the Kohler Co of Wisconsin. Since then, the 
Kohler Company has made substantial financial investments in improving their operations in             
St Andrews at the Old Course Hotel and Spa and at the Duke’s Golf Course using the golf course 
architect Tom Liddy.  

In 2008 following planning approval, the Kohler Company started work at Mount Melville Mansion, 
at The Duke’s, ‘to create one of the world’s most luxurious private residence clubs for golfers and 
guests’. It is understood that by 2009, the entire ground floor entrance was refurbished including 
remodelling of the lobby, library and conservatory. However, following the main contractor for the 
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project going into receivership and the Kohler Company acquisition of Hamilton Hall in St Andrews 
in that year a decision was made to mothball the work at Craigtoun house in favour of the 
refurbishment project at Hamilton Hall, with the intention of recommencing work at Craigtoun on 
completion of Hamilton Hall. 

At the time of writing, work is complete on Hamilton Grand as it is now called and it is to be hoped 
that the Kohler Company will resume refurbishment of the Mount Melville Mansion and grounds in 
keeping with their extant planning applications. 

 

 

Bibliography: 

	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  
	  
i The Place Names of Fife Volume Three  St Andrews and the East Neuk, Simon Taylor with Gilbert Markus 
ii History of the County of Fife Volume Three,  John M Leighton;    
iii  The books of Assumption of the Third of Beneficiaries: ScottishEcclesiastical Rentals at the Reformation, 
Records of Social and Economic History, New Series 21, J Kirk (Oxford 1995); 
iv The Renfrewshire Temple lands RLHF Journal Vol. 3, T C Welsh; 
v Mining between Ceres and St Andrews, John McManus;                
vi  Fife: Pictorial and Historical,  A. H. Millar, F.S.A Scotland; 
vii  Scottish Puritanism, 1560-1638, David George Mullan 
viii  Ordinance Gazetteer of Scotland: A Survey of Scottish Topography, Statistical, Biographical and Historical,  
Edited by Francis H Groome & published between 1882 & 1885; 
ix SCHR Ltd, 12 Wardlaw Gardens, St Andrews, Fife KY169DW; 
x Wikipedia : George Melville , 1st Earl of Melville; 
xi  Edinburgh University Library Archives, ref Numbers GB237 Coll-432; 
xii  Electric Scotland.com website,  Classified Directory  - The Scottish Nation; 
xiii  R & A Website Our Heritage, The portraits; 
xiv  A Grand man and a Golfer. The Novelist George Melville and his Memorials, Peter N Lewis &  
Angela D Morrison; 
xv Oxford Dictionary of National Biography 
xvi  University of St Andrews, University Library Special Collections,  Mount Melville Estate Papers 
Reference GB 227 ms37884-38052; 
xvii  Strathkinness – A Glimpse of a Scottish Village,  Nelda Seed; 
xviii  Footsteps in the Furrow, Andrew Arbuckle; 
xix  The Courier, March 2012 Can anyone save Craigtoun Park?, Michael Alexander;               
xx  Building Up our Health-the architecture of Scotland’s historic hospitals, Historic Scotland. 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

                              



Printed by West Port Print & Design Ltd., St Andrews · Tel: (01334) 477135

THE ST ANDREWS
PRESERVATION TRUST

Since its foundation in 1937, the object
of The St Andrews Preservation Trust
has been to secure the preservation of
the amenities and historic character

of St Andrews and its neighbourhood.

Charity Registered in Scotland No. SC011782


